COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF SCREENING FOR LUNG CANCER IN A HIGH RISK COHORT USING AUTOMATED SPUTUM CYTOMETRY

By

JENNIFER SLIVINSKAS B.Sc., The University of Waterloo, 2000 B.Ed., Queen's University, 2000

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES (Department of Experimental Medicine, Faculty of Medicine)

We accept this thesis as conforming to the required standard

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

December 2003

© Jennifer Slivinskas, 2003

Library Authorization

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree at the University of British Columbia, I agree that the Library shall make it freely available for reference and study. I further agree that permission for extensive copying of this thesis for scholarly purposes may be granted by the head of my department or by his or her representatives. It is understood that copying or publication of this thesis for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Jennifer Slivinskas Name of Author (please print) December 16, 2003 Date

Title of Thesis:Cost-effectiveness of Screening for Lung Cancer in a High RiskCohort Using Automated Sputum Cytometry

Dearee [.]	Master of Science		Year	2003	
Degree.		and the second	rour.	2000	

Abstract

Lung cancer continues to be the leading cause of cancer death in Canada. Thirty percent of cancer deaths in men and one-quarter in women are due to lung cancer alone. Prognosis is better for patients diagnosed with early stage lung cancer (>80% 5 year relative survival) than those with late stage cancer (<10% 5 year relative survival). Screening for early stage lung cancer, before the onset on clinical symptoms, leads to a reduction in risk of invasive cancer. In order for a cancer screening programme to be recommended as a cancer control strategy, certain fundamental criteria must be fulfilled, one of which is the cost-effectiveness of the proposed screening test.

To facilitate funding allocations of scarce resources across health care programs, economic evaluation models are used to compare the cost-effectiveness of different health interventions. In this model, the cost-utility of using automated sputum cytometry (ASC) versus spiral CT alone as a first step in screening for early stage lung cancer is determined.

ASC consists of a high-resolution quantitative microscopy system that analyzes the concentration and distribution of DNA and chromatin structures within the cell nucleus of sputum cells. This will determine the likelihood of lung cancer presence in the particular patient. ASC followed by computed tomography (CT) scanning is hypothesized to be less costly with improved prognosis from early detection of disease.

Using a computer-simulated model, a hypothetical cohort of patients at high risk for lung cancer was screened using ASC as a first step in the screening algorithm. The incremental cost-utility was determined for 5-year annual screening using ASC and CT compared to CT screening alone and no screening.

Results show ASC is moderately cost-effective with an incremental cost-utility (compared with no screening) of \$54,923/QALY (2002 CDN\$). Using the most favourable assumptions for the model, the cost-effectiveness improved to \$34,388/QALY. Comparatively, screening with CT alone was a weakly dominated strategy. Sensitivity analyses showed the most influential parameters to be specificity of the ASC test and prevalence of disease.

ii

Despite certain limitations with the study, a very conservative approach to treatment and costs was adopted in the model and ASC shows promise as a cost-effective lung cancer screening tool.

iii

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
Abbreviations	vii
A cknowledgements	x/iii
Chantar 1 Introduction	
Chapter 1. Introduction	L
Chapter 2. Lung Cancer Screening	
2.1 Burden of Disease	
2.2 Smoking as a Risk Factor for Lung Cancer	8
2.3 Screening for Lung Cancer	
2.4 Computer-Assisted Sputum Cytometry	
Chapter 3. Health Economics	
3.1 Economic Evaluations	
3.2 Methods of Economic Evaluations	
3.3 Costs and Outcomes	
3.3.1 Direct and Indirect Costs	
3.3.2 Discounting	
3.3.3. Outcome Measures.	
3.4 Statistical Variables and Probabilities	
3.4.1 Probability inputs	
Chapter 4. Literature Poview	
Chapter 4. Literature Review	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Data Sources and Methods	
4.5 Kesuits	
4.4 Discussion	
Chapter 5. The Lung Health Study at the British Columbia Cancer Agency	
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Data Sources and Methods	
5.3 Results	
5.4 Discussion	62
Chapter 6. Economic Decision Analysis Model for the Evaluation of Lung Cance	r
Screening with Automated Sputum Cytometry	00
6.1 Introduction	
6.2 Data Sources and Model Design	
6.3 Results	80
6.3.1 Sensitivity Analyses	86
6.4 Limitations and Feasibility	
AFFENDIX A Calculation of Pack Years in Smokers	
References	100

List of Tables

.

Table 2.1 Estimated New Cases and Deaths for Cancer Sites by Gender, Canada, 2002	;
Table 2.2 Estimated Age-standardized Incidence and Mortality Rates for Major Cancer Sites by	
Gender, Canada, 2002	,
Table 2.3 Distribution of Lung Cancer by Age Group and Gender, Canada, 2002	1
Table 2.4 Age-standardized Five-year Relative Survival Rates, Canada, 1992	ţ
Table 2.5 Percentage of Smokers in Canada and British Columbia by Age Group and Sex, 2001	
Table 2.6 Smoking Status and Average Number of Cigarottes Smoked Bar Day, by Age Crown	
and Sex Age 15+ Canada 2001	2
Table 2.7 Criteria for the Evaluation of Screening	
Table 4.1 Distinguishing Characteristics of Published Economic Health Care Evaluations 35	
Table 4.2 Number of Citations and Details on Ineligible Studies Identified Through Different	
Databases	2
Table 4.3 Summary of Articles Selected for Inclusion in Literature Review 40)
Table 4.4 Detailed Review of 7 Group A Studies – Full Economic Evaluations 41	
Table 4.5 Critical Evaluation of Group A Studies – Full Economic Analyses 43	ł
Table 4.6 League Table of Various Health Care Inventions Including Other Cancer Screening	
Strategies	1
Table 5.1 All Eligible Patients, Age 45+ and 20+ Pack Years with Sputum Analysis	,
Table 5.2 All Eligible Patients, Age 45+ and 20+ Pack Years with at Least 1 Bronchoscopy 58	3
Table 5.3 Lung Cancer Patients, Age 45+ and 20+ Pack Years)
Table 5.4 Lung Cancer Patients, Age 45+ and 20+ Pack Years with at least 1 Bronchoscopy 59)
Table 5.5 Lung Cancer Patients, Age 45+ and 20+ Pack Years with No Bronchoscopy)
Table 5.6 Mode of Diagnosis for 36 Lung Cancer Patients	;
Table 5.7 Cell Type Distribution for 36 Lung Cancer Patients	;
Table 5.8 Stage Distribution for 36 Lung Cancer Patients	;
Table 6.1 Distribution of Tumours Detected in a Hypothetical Cohort According to the 3	
Screening Alternatives	;
Table 6.2 Utility Values for Those Patients Living with Lung Cancer	;
Table 6.3 Annual Probabilities and Costs Used in the Economic Model for Lung Cancer	
Screening77	1
Table 6.4 Markov Transition Probabilities for Lung Cancer Patients for First 10 Years After	
Diagnosis	
Table 6.5 Transition Probabilities for Lung Cancer Patients in Remission for Years 11 Onward82	2
Table 6.6 Survival Table for Patients Without Lung Cancer	;
Table 6.7 Base-case Results Comparing 3 Screening Strategies, 2002 CDN\$*	ł
Table 6.8 Base-case Results Comparing 2 Screening Strategies, 2002 CDN\$*	ł
Table 6.9 Summary Statistics for the 3 Screening Strategies, 2002 CDN\$;
Table 6.10 Multi-way Sensitivity Analyses of Lung Cancer Screening with Sputum Cytometry94	ł

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Likelihood of survival from lung cancer depending on stage at diagnosis	9
Figure 2.2 Computer-assisted image cytometer at the British Columbia Cancer Agency	20
Figure 3.1 QALYs gained from an intervention	30
Figure 4.1 Trends in the number of published cost-effectiveness studies	34
Figure 5.1 Breakdown of Lung Health Study patients by sputum diagnosis and number of	
bronchoscopies, N=1885 including 36 lung cancer patients	61
Figure 6.1 Simplified decision analysis tree comparing three screening strategies.	67
Figure 6.2 Detailed clinical screening pathway for the sputum + CT screening arm	69
Figure 6.3 Detailed clinical screening pathway for the CT screening arm	70
Figure 6.4 Markov model for lung cancer patients for first 10 years post diagnosis	78
Figure 6.5 Markov model for lung cancer patients for years 11+ after diagnosis	79
Figure 6.6 Distribution of average costs in the sputum + CT screening arm.	88
Figure 6.7 Distribution of average QALYs in the sputum + CT screening arm	89
Figure 6.8 Sensitivity analysis on sensitivity of sputum cytometry test	90
Figure 6.9 Sensitivity analysis on prevalence of lung cancer	90
Figure 6.10 Sensitivity analysis on cost of sputum cytometry test	92
Figure 6.11 Sensitivity analysis on degree of stage shift from advanced to local stage lung c	ancer
	93

Abbreviations

ASC	Automated Sputum Cytometry
B.C.	British Columbia
BCCA	British Columbia Cancer Agency
CAIS	Cancer Agency Information System
CBA	Cost-benefit Analysis
CEA	Cost-effectiveness Analysis
CMA	Cost-minimization Analysis
CT	Computed Tomography (scan)
CTUMS	Canadian Tobacco Use Monitoring Survey
CUA	Cost-utility analysis
DATA	Decision Analysis by TreeAge Software
ICER	Incremental Cost-effectiveness Ratio
NSCLC	Non-small Cell Lung Cancer
PMI	Perceptronix Medical Inc.
QALY	Quality-adjusted Life Year
SCLC	Small Cell Lung Cancer
SEER	Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Database, US

vii

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Dr. Stephen Lam and Dr. Branko Palcic for their ongoing support throughout this project. Without their knowledge, guidance and encouragement this project would not have been possible. It was a privilege to work with such distinguished scientists in the field of lung cancer research.

I also with to thank Dr. Aslam Anis for his valuable assistance and suggestions in the design of the decision analysis model. His expertise and patience were very much appreciated. Huiying Sun also provided guidance and direction in the design of the markov model.

In addition, I would like to thank those individuals working on the Lung Health Study at the British Columbia Cancer Agency. In particular, I thank Sukhinder Khattra for her patience and endless guidance while working with the database system.

I would also like to express my appreciation to the faculty and staff in the Department of Health Care and Epidemiology at The University of British Columbia. The courses and direction I received were instrumental in providing a foundation upon which to conduct this health economic research.

Finally, I am indebted to my family, who have shown nothing but continual support and understanding for me as I strive to meet my academic goals. Thank you.

Chapter 1. Introduction

The rising demand for health services coupled with static or decreasing resources with which to pay for them has resulted in increasing interest in the economic analysis of medical interventions. Economic appraisal is concerned with assessing the efficiency of the way in which scarce resources are used. These economic evaluation techniques are a way of organizing, thinking about and carrying out measurement of the consequences identified with alternative courses of action. It is argued by health economists that such evaluations should go hand-in-hand with resource allocation decisions in order to accrue maximum benefits from limited resources. Research into the economic aspects of health care interventions is now carried out and supported by health care professionals, government, the insurance industry and the pharmaceutical industry. Each of these groups brings to the field their own particular biases and vested interests, and the interpretation of studies needs to be carried out with recognition of this fact in mind.

One of the important developments of medical science during the past twenty-five years has been the emergence of screening programmes to detect various cancers at an early stage. Successful population-based programmes include both breast and colorectal cancer screening (Scholefied, 2002; Whynes, 1992; Elixhauser, 1991). In further support of these health interventions, economic evaluation techniques have shown these screening tools to be costeffective approaches (Whynes, 1992; Sonnenberg, 2002; Gyrd-Hansen, 1991) to wide-spread disease with high mortality. Lung cancer, the most common cause of cancer death in North America, should be a good candidate for screening because of high mortality, differential survival by stage of disease, the current low rate of early detection because of lack of symptoms early in disease, the availability of effective intervention for very early disease and the high costs associated with treatments for later stages of the disease (Marshall, 2001). Currently, there are no medical organizations in North America that recommend lung cancer screening for the general population, particularly as it still remains to be clinically proven that screening reduces lung

cancer mortality. Nevertheless, the topic is at the centre of debate among health professionals with previous screening studies being critically reviewed (Reintgen, 1996; Chamberlain, 1996; Kramer, 1999). In this regard, there are a number of serious limitations to several National Cancer Institute Cooperative Trials and new studies underway show that lung cancer screening does improve survival. Furthermore, there have been dramatic advances in diagnostic imaging and the molecular detection of lung cancer such as computerized tomography (CT scans) and sputum cytology that will likely play a significant role in future lung cancer screening.

Economic evaluations of lung cancer screening tools to date have been limited and there are few published scientific studies that are based on real time clinical data. On account of the high prevalence and mortality of lung cancer as well as its suitability for a population based screening strategy, the cost-effectiveness of such a programme is one that cannot be ignored. One approach being studied at the BCCA is using computer assisted sputum cytology (ASC) as a non-invasive technique to screen patients at high risk for developing lung cancer. A costing model has been designed for this economic evaluation to assess the costs and outcomes of ASC screening compared to no screening and screening using CT scans.

Whenever possible, the statistics reported in this paper are reflective of the Canadian population and in many instances, the province of British Columbia is used specifically as a source for lung cancer information. This is reflective of the location of the study and aids in supporting the implementation of such a population based screening programme specifically in the province of British Columbia.

The objectives of this thesis are as follows:

 To review various aspects of lung cancer such as burden of disease, etiology and its suitability as a disease for screening, as well as to provide a brief description of ASC and justify reasons for its use in lung cancer screening.

. 2

- 2. To describe the process of economic evaluation as it relates to the topic of lung cancer screening, including definitions, strategies and review of previous scientific studies related to the cost-effectiveness of such screening methods.
- 3. To evaluate the effectiveness of ASC using real clinical data from the Lung Health Study at the BCCA to be used subsequently in the decision model.
- 4. To design an economic decision model that tests the effectiveness of using ASC prior to CT scanning in comparison to both no screening and screening with CT scan using the decision analysis software TreeAgeTM and to test the robustness of the model with sensitivity analyses.

Chapter 2. Lung Cancer Screening

To proceed with the proposed study of the cost associated with screening for lung cancer in a high risk cohort it is essential to have a detailed understanding of lung cancer. This chapter provides an overall review of lung cancer and its suitability as a disease for screening as well as description of ASC.

For clinical purposes, lung cancer is classified as small-cell lung cancer (SCLC) and nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC: squamous cell carcinoma, adenocarcinoma, large cell carcinoma) due to the different biological behaviour of these entities. SCLC represents approximately 20% of all lung cancers and is characterized by rapid growth and usually early hematogenous metastases (Diederich, 2003). The different types of NSCLC represent approximately 80% of lung cancer cases and typically exhibit slower growth and later, usually lymphatic metastases. In NSCLC, surgery is believed to represent the most effective therapy and is performed whenever possible (i.e. in localized tumours, which can be completely resected). More advanced, non-resectable tumours are treated with neoadjuvant radiotherapy/chemotherapy and patients with late stage NSCLC can only be offered palliative chemotherapy in most instances. SCLC, on the contrary is regarded as a systemic disease in most cases and treated with chemotherapy with or without radiotherapy. Surgical resection is rarely performed.

2.1 Burden of Disease

At the beginning of this century, lung cancer was a rare disease. The present global epidemic, with over two million deaths estimated in the year 2000, is the direct result of governmentally sanctioned production and aggressive marketing of addictive tobacco products, primarily cigarettes. Lung cancer is the most common cause of cancer death in North America. More people die from lung cancer than breast cancer, colorectal cancer and prostrate cancer

combined (National Cancer Institute of Canada, 2002). The primary reason for such a dismal cure rate is that nearly all lung cancers are found at a very late stage, making curative treating impossible. A presence of symptoms usually indicates advanced disease. A potentially more effective way to improve outcomes is to detect the cancer when curative treatment, such as surgery, can be applied (Morrison, 1992).

According to the Canadian Cancer Society, lung cancer will continue as the leading cause of cancer death among Canadians in 2002. Thirty percent of cancer deaths in men and twentyfive percent in women are due to lung cancer alone (National Cancer Institute of Canada, 2002). Table 2.1 shows the estimated new cases and deaths for the 4 major cancer sites in Canada in 2002. Of the 12,000 new cases among men in Canada, 1,350 cases occur in the province of British Columbia while females in the province account for 1,250 new cases of lung cancer. Table 2.2 provides details of the age-standardized incidence and mortality rates for lung cancer in Canada and in B.C. specifically. Although the incidence of lung cancer for males in B.C. is significantly less than that of the national average, (59 per 100,000 compared to 74 per 100,000), the rate for women in B.C. is comparable to the rate across Canada (46 per 100,000 to 47 per 100,000). Mortality rates among women are actually worse in B.C. compared to national figures which are reflective of the rapid increase in lung cancer mortality in women over the past 3 decades. It is therefore imperative that a lung cancer screening programme in B.C. adopt special efforts to target women who have a predisposition to lung cancer. Lung cancer will remain the leading cause of cancer death among both men and women (Table 2.3) with a total of 18,400 deaths in Canada (more than breast, prostrate and colorectal combined) with 2,300 of those deaths estimated to occur in B.C. in 2002. The unfortunate statistics highlighted above are reflective of a disease with very low 5-year survival rates. Table 2.4 indicates that only 14% of males and 17% of females will survive longer than 5 years from the time of diagnosis.

	N	ew Cases		· .	Deaths		Death	s/Cases I	Ratio
	2002	2 Estimat	es	20	02 Estima	ates	2002	2 Estima	tes
· · · · · ·	Total	Μ	F	Total	Μ	F	Total	М	F
All	136,900	69,800	67,200	66,200	35,100	31,100	0.48	0.50	0.46
Cancers									
Lung	20,800	12,000	8,800	18,400	10,700	7,700	0.88	0.89	0.87
(Canada)									
Lung	2,600	1,350	1,250	2,300	1,200	1,100	0.88	0.89	0.88
(B.C.)	20.700	140	20 500	5 400	40	5 400	0.26	0.20	0.00
Dreast	20,700	140	20,500	5,400	40	5,400	0.26	0.30	0.20
Prostrate	18,200	18,200	·	4,300	4,300	·	0.24	0.24	
)				
Colorectal	17,600	9,500	8,100	6,600	3,500	3,000	0.37	0.37	0.37

Table 2.1 Estimated New Cases and Deaths for Cancer Sites by Gender, Canada, 2002

--- Not Applicable

Source: Surveillance and Risk Assessment Division, CCDPC, Health Canada

Table 2.2 Estimated Age-standardized	Incidence and	l Mortality	Rates for	'Major '	Cancer
Sites by Gender, Canada, 2002					

	In	icidence Rate	Mortality Rate		
	(per 100,000)		(per 100,00)	
	Canada	British Columbia	Canada	British Columbia	
MALES		•			
All Cancers	442	456	224	195	
Prostrate	120	121	29	24	
Lung	74	59	67	54	
Colorectal	59	54	22	16	
FEMALES					
All Cancers	347	323	151	140	
Breast	106	102	26	23	
Lung	47	46	38	39	
Colorectal	39	35	14	10	

Source: Surveillance and Risk Assessment Division, CCDPC, Health Canada

Age Group	Total	Males	Females
			·
New Cases			
20-29	20	15	10
30-39	180	. 80	100
40-49	1000	450	560
50-59	3200	1650	1550
60-69	6000	3600	2400
70-79	7000	4300	2700
80+	3400	1900	1450
Ages 20+	20800	12000	8800
		. · · ·	•
Deaths		· .	
20-29	- 5	-	-
30-39	110	40 .	65
40-49	740	310	430
50-59	2400	1250	1100
60-69	4900	3000	1950
70-79	6500	4000	2600
80+	3700	2200	1600
Ages 20+	18400	10700	7700

Table 2.3 Distribution of Lung Cancer by Age Group and Gender, Canada, 2002

- Fewer than 3 cases or deaths

Source: Surveillance and Risk Assessment Division, CCDPC, Health Canada

	Table 2.4 Age-standardized	Five-year Relative S	urvival Rates,	Canada,	1992
--	-----------------------------------	-----------------------------	----------------	---------	------

•				-		
	Prostrate		Colorectal		Lung	
<u>,,, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,</u>	Relative		Relative		Relative	
MALES	Survival	95% CI	Survival	95% CI	Survival	95% CI
	Rate (%)	•	Rate (%)		Rate (%)	
Canada	87	85,88	56	54,58	14	13,15
British	91	88,93	59	54,63	12	10,15
Columbia			÷ . *			
	Breast		Colorectal		Lung	
	Relative		Relative		Relative	
FEMALES	Survival	95% CI	Survival	95% CI	Survival	95% CI
	Rate (%)		Rate (%)		Rate (%)	
Canada	82	81,83	59	58,61	17	16,18
British Columbia	85	83,87	61	56,65	15	12,18

Source: National Cancer Institute of Canada, Canadian Cancer Statistics, 2002

Survival rates in B.C. are slightly lower than the rate across Canada at 12% and 15% for males and females respectively. A large proportion of lung cancer is detected in patients when the disease has already progressed to a late stage (Stage III or IV) when curative options such as surgery are no longer viable (Lam, 2001). Figure 2.1 shows the likelihood of survival with lung cancer dependent on the stage at diagnosis. It is for this reason that early detection becomes crucial to increasing the life expectancy of lung cancer patients and, in the longer term, reducing mortality.

For any early detection strategy to be effective in reducing the impact of a disease it is necessary that the disease of interest have a detectable, preclinical phase, before widespread symptoms appear (the onset of symptoms usually means late stage disease with respect to lung cancer) (Bach, 2003). Lung cancer has a case fatality rate of some 90% when left to be diagnosed on the prompting of symptoms (or an abnormal finding in chest imaging) (Strauss, 1999). Most clinical experience indicates that the smaller a primary tumour is at the time of detection, the more favourable is the clinical outcome (Martini, 1999). Only about 10% of primary lung tumours that are less than a centimetre in diameter have been found to develop into metastatic tumours (Martini, 1999). The preclinical phase begins when the process of malignant transformation occurs and ends when signs or symptoms of disease permit the clinical diagnosis of cancer (Strauss, 1999).

2.2 Smoking as a Risk Factor for Lung Cancer

The use of tobacco products is the single most important cause of preventable, premature cancer deaths. Other risk factors for lung cancer include exposure to asbestos, radioactive radon, nickel, chromium, and arsenic (Diederich, 2003). Current estimates indicate



Figure 2.1 Likelihood of survival from lung cancer depending on stage at diagnosis.

that 87% of all cases of lung cancer are directly attributable to cigarette smoking, including 90% of lung cancers in men and 79% of cases in women.¹¹ In addition, many deaths from other diseases also occur because of smoking. Among men, smoking is responsible for almost one-third of potential years of life lost due to all cancers and among women the number drops to one-fifth of potential years of life lost due to all cancers (American Cancer Society, 1992). Lung cancer relative risk among long-term cigarette smokers is increased 10-30 fold compared to the lifetime non-smoker. Unfortunately, although smoking cessation is an effective lung cancer prevention strategy, many years of smoking abstinence are required for lung cancer risk to be reduced significantly among long-term smokers. Moreover, even after decades of complete smoking abstinence, the risk of lung cancer in former smokers fails to reach the level of the lifelong non-smoker. Because of the relationship between cigarette smoking and carcinogenesis, a population at high risk for lung cancer is readily definable.

A recent study done by the Canadian Tobacco Use Monitoring Survey (CTUMS) reveals that 5.4 million Canadians or 22% of the population, aged 15 years and older, were smokers in the year 2001 (Health Canada Tobacco Control Program, 2001). The province of B.C. again reported the lowest prevalence for current smokers 15 years and older at 17%. Table 2.5 outlines smoking statistics in Canada and BC specifically. Approximately 24% of men are smokers, slightly higher than the proportion of women (20%) (CTUMS, 2001). Cigarette consumption also varies across the country ranging from a low of 14.6 cigarettes/day in BC to a high of 17.6 cigarettes/day in New Brunswick; the national Canadian average is 16.2 cigarettes/day (CTUMS, 2001).

For several years now there have been more former smokers than current smokers in the Canadian population and statistics show this will remain the case for at least another 50 years due, in part, to the fact that CTUMS found young adults in Canada aged 20-24 still have the

	All Age Groups	12-14	15-19	20-34	35-44	44-65	65+
	· · ·		1				
Canada				· ·			
Both Sexes ¹	21.7	3.0	18.3	26.1	27.1	24.9	10.4
Males	23.5	2.2^{E}	17.7	29.5	29.2	27.3	11.7
Females	19.4	3.8	18.9	. 22.7	24.9	22.6	9.5
	· · · · ·	·					
British Columbia							
Both Sexes	16.7	F	10.4	20.7	20.4	18.8	7.9
Males	17.9	F	10.1	22.5	21.9	22.2	9.0
Females	14.7	F	10.6	18.9	19.0	15.5	7.1

11

Table 2.5 Percentage of Smokers in Canada and British Columbia by Age Group and Sex, 2001

¹Those reporting smoking daily. Source: CTUMS, 2001 – Health Canada Tobacco Control Program

highest smoking rate of any age group at 32% (CTUMS, 2001). Even if this entire cohort quit smoking today they would remain at risk for lung cancer for many years. It is for these reasons that an already high and increasing proportion of newly diagnosed lung cancer cases will continue to be diagnosed among those who have quit smoking. Table 2.6 reveals the distribution of smokers according to smoking status, by age group and sex. There are indeed more former smokers in Canada in 2001 than current smokers.

Amid some of the discouraging statistics on smoking in Canada there is some good news. Overall, Canadians are moving towards a smoke-free society, albeit slowly. According to the Report on Smoking Prevalence in Canada, 1985-1999 (Gilmore, 2000), there have been statistically significant declines in current smoking prevalence of Canadian adults aged 15 and older between 1985 and 1999. The prevalence rate for smoking dropped from 35.1% in 1985 to 30.8% in 1991. From there, rates fell to 27.2% in 1996 and even further to 24.8% in 1999 (Gilmore, 2000). Unfortunately, the only age group in Canada to show a steady increase in smoking prevalence over the past 15 years are those aged 15-19.

Due to the high correlation of smoking and lung cancer (Burns, 2000) it follows that in order for a population based screening program to be cost-effective it is necessary to target a select group of people to screen for the disease. This model will target people who are current or former smokers and will use pack years as one of the qualifying criteria for screening. Pack years are a quantitative measure that combines the length of time and average number of cigarettes smoked by an individual over their lifetime. For example, if an individual smoked 1 pack of cigarettes/day (assuming 20 cigarettes in a pack) for 30 years they are considered to have a 30 pack year history. If another individual smoked ³/₄ pack/day for 20 years they are considered to have a 15 pack year history. Pack years are used routinely in screening studies when selecting a target population to screen, a population that would be at higher risk for developing lung cancer and therefore more likely to benefit from screening. Recent published literature on

	Sex or age group	Population estimate ('000s)	Current smokers (%)	Former smokers (%)	Never smokers (%)	Average cigarettes smoked per day ¹
Canada	Total	24,916	21.7	23.8	54.4	16.2
· · · · ·	15-19	2,073	22.5	4.9	72.6	12.9
	20-24	2,097	32.1	9.3	58.5	13.9
	25-44	9,666	25.0	21.4	53.6	16.3
	45+	11,080	16.8	32.2	51.0	17.4
	Male (15+)	12,270	23.9	27.3	48.8	17.1
	15-24	2,132	28.2	6.8	64.9	14.5
	25+	10,138	22.9	31.6	45.5	17.7
	Female (15+)	12,646	19.6	20.5	59.9	15.0
	15-24	2,038	26.3	7.5	66.2	12.4
· · ·	25+	10,607	18.3	23.0	58.7	15.6
British Columbia	Total	3,342	16.7	22.8	60.6	14.6
	15-19	273	16.8	5.4*	77.8	11.4
	20-24	273	27.0	9.7*	63.3	10.6
	25-44	1,274	18.9	22.1	59.0	15.3
	45+	1,522	12.9	28.8	58.3	15.6
	Males (15+)	1,647	17.1	26.3	56.6	15.5
	15-24	278	23.8	8.2*	68.0	11.8
	25+	1,368	15.8	29.9	54.3	16.5
	Females (15+)	1,696	16.2	19.4	64.4	13.8
:	15-24	268	19.9	6.9*	73.2	9.5
	25+	1.428	15.5	21.7	62.7	14.5

Table 2.6 Smoking Status and Average Number of Cigarettes Smoked Per Day, by Age Group and Sex, Age 15+, Canada 2001

¹ Daily smokers only. ^{*} Moderate sampling variability, interpret with caution. Estimates may not sum to 100 percent due to rounding. Source: CTUMS Annual Results, 2001 – Health Canada Tobacco Control Program

cohorts for lung cancer screening having targeted people with a 20 to 45 pack year history (Henschke, 2001). In this model, former or current smokers are required to have a minimum 20> pack years in order to be eligible for screening.

2.3 Screening for Lung Cancer

Screening for cancer is based on the premise that earlier diagnosis of the disease, either in the precancerous state or at an earlier stage than clinical symptoms would otherwise present, leads to a reduction in risk of mortality or development of invasive cancer. Morrison (1992) defines screening as "the examination of asymptomatic people in order to classify them as likely or unlikely to have the disease that is the object of screening." People who appear likely to have the disease are investigated further to arrive at a final diagnosis. The goal of mass screening or population screening is to reduce morbidity or mortality from the disease among people screened.

In order for a cancer screening program to be recommended as a cancer control strategy, 6 fundamental criteria must be fulfilled (Table 2.7). First, the disease should be an important health problem and sufficiently prevalent to warrant mass screening. Second, there should be a period when the disease is detectable in an asymptomatic individual (i.e., there should be a detectable preclinical phase). Arguments made earlier in this chapter support the notion that lung cancer has a detectable preclinical phase, although scientists continue to develop methods to improve this area. Third, the accuracy of the screening test should have acceptable sensitivity, specificity and predictive values. Sensitivity is defined as the proportion of truly diseased persons in the screened population who are identified as diseased by the screening test and is also known as the true positive rate (Last, 2000). It is a

Criteria	Characteristic of Disease or Test?		
1. Burden of disease	Disease		
2. Detectable preclinical phase	Disease and screening test		
3. Accuracy	Screening test		
4. Acceptability	Screening test		
5. Effectiveness	Disease and screening test		
6. Cost effectiveness	Disease and screening test		

Table 2.7 Criteria for the Evaluation of Screening

Source: Drummond et al., 1997.

measure of the probability of correctly diagnosing a case. Specificity is defined as the proportion of truly non-diseased persons who are identified by the screening test. Specificity is a measure of the probability of correctly identifying a non-diseased person with a screening test. The predictive value of a screening test refers to the probability that a person with a positive test is a true positive (positive predictive value, PPV), while the negative predictive value (NPV) of a test is the probability that a person with a negative test does not have the disease. Both sensitivity and specificity, together with the prevalence of the disease in question, determine predictive value. These three variables are critically important to the economic analysis of a screening test as any false-positives or false-negatives incur unnecessary costs (at times excessive) to the overall programme.

Fourth, the test must be acceptable to patients and physicians. Physicians usually offer the first access point to screening tests used by the population. Although accuracy is important, the consequences of false-positive or false-negative test results and the acceptability of these consequences to providers and the public can influence the acceptability of a screening programme and thus its potential to contribute to cancer control efforts (Chamberlain, 1996).

Fifth, screening must be effective. The treatment of disease during the asymptomatic preclinical phase should be superior to treatment of symptomatic disease. Table 2.8 outlines survival rates for the varying stages of lung cancer diagnosis. The prognosis of lung cancer patients is strongly related to tumour stage at diagnosis particularly in NSCLC. When the tumour is diagnosed at Stage IA (tumour >3cm, surrounded by lung, no lymphatic or hematogenous metastases) prognosis is favourable with a 5-year survival of >80%. However, when diagnosed at more advanced stages 5-year survival drops markedly with almost no cure at Stage IV (distant metastases) (Mountain, 2000). Unfortunately, if diagnosed because of symptoms only 20-25% of NSCLC patients present at Stages I or II which are regard as respectable, whereas approximately

50% of patients present at Stage IV (Greenlee, 2000). This suggests that diagnosis of lung cancer at early stages may improve overall survival from this disease.

Whether or not lung cancer screening improves long-term survival in patients is at the centre of current debate and the focus of a large number of clinical studies. Regardless of the screening technique used in a number of trials worldwide, published results are mixed as to the effectiveness lung cancer screening has on reducing mortality (Miettinen, 2000). Many of the population-based randomized trials using CT and sputum cytology have been criticized for flawed study designs (Miettinen, 2000; Strauss, 1999) and scientists continue work to prove screening does benefit patients at high risk for lung cancer.

Alongside this quest is the economic efficiency of proposed screening programmes and this is the final measure that needs to be addressed. The cost and cost-effectiveness of screening should be acceptable and should not substantially exceed the cost for other preventive measures already in use. This criterion is the basis for the research carried out and presented in Chapter 6 of this paper.

2.4 Computer-Assisted Sputum Cytometry

Economic evaluations are often used to assess whether or not a new procedure, medical device or therapy is more beneficial and less costly than those currently being used. Although there are a number of screening tools being investigated to detect early stage lung cancer, there is no one technique or screening programme that is advocated within the health community (Bach, 2003). In practice, patients suspected of having lung cancer (due to past medical history and/or current symptoms) are followed up with chest x-rays and CT scans that may or may not lead to further testing. Spiral (or helical) CT scans are a more advanced X-ray imaging procedure in which multiple detectors are arrayed in parallel (referred to as multi-slice), enabling an image of

the entire thoracic cavity to be acquired in less than 20 seconds (Mulshine, 2003). The threedimensional images obtained by spiral CT analysis offer several advantages over twodimensional X-rays (Mulshine, 2003) and are used as a part of the sequentially screening process in this economic model. X-rays and CT scans subject patients to radiation levels that, although small, may be harmful. They are therefore considered to be invasive procedures. The only noninvasive screening technique used currently for the detection of early stage lung cancer involves sputum cytology (referred to as ASC in this paper). 100

The lung is a uniquely accessible organ for obtaining diagnostic samples. Not only do the airways provide a conduit for introducing a variety of endoscopic instruments, but the lung itself also produces secretions which, coughed up as phlegm (or sputum), can be collected for analysis. Sputum yields information about the lungs and airways and is distinguished from saliva, which consists of secretions in the mouth and gives information about the oral cavity. Conventional sputum cytology requires highly trained cytopathologists to interpret prepared sputum slides under a microscope. The problem with this method of sputum cytology has been the lack or obviousness of diagnostic cells in the sample as well as having subjective results that may be interpreted differently depending on the individual scientist. The method has been criticized for a variety of reasons and the literature contains mixed results about the efficacy of using it as a primary method for detecting lung cancer (Palcic, 2002 and Strauss, 1999).

The department of Cancer Imaging at the BCCA, in collaboration with a local Vancouver company (Oncometrics Imaging Corp.), have developed a semi-automated, high resolution quantitative microscopy system (CytoSavant) to enable detailed measurements of sputum derived DNA in cell nuclei. With a series of mathematical equations, the concentration and distribution of DNA and chromatin structures with the cell nucleus is characterized to determine if it is suspicious for early lung cancer. This system enables one to not only measure DNA amounts in cells but the size, shape, and texture of the DNA in the cell nuclei. The semi-

automated image cytometer includes a robotic effector, high resolution CCD video camera, software for feature analysis and an interface to computer software for calculating and expressing results of nuclear analysis in a cell gallery, bar graph, and DNA and chromatin distribution charts. Figure 2.2 shows a picture of the image cytometer. Currently, there is a clinical trial underway led by Perceptronix Medical Inc., Vancouver, B.C., to determine the clinical effectiveness of using the ASC method to screen for early stage lung cancer. In this trial, patients with a DNA index score of 1.2 or higher in 5 or more cells (out of 3000) are considered to have sputum that is atypical and further diagnostic testing is recommended.

In addressing the criteria outlined in Table 2.7 for the evaluation of a screening programme, ASC looks to be a promising tool for early lung cancer detection. It is considered a non-intrusive procedure that can be done quickly and with little discomfort to the patient. With respect to the accuracy of the ASC test, scientists at the BCCA have been working to increase the sensitivity of the test while maintaining a high level of specificity. To date they have been able to achieve 65% sensitivity at 90% specificity for early stage (Stage 0 and I) lung cancer (Palcic, 2002). This compares to only 14% sensitivity (at 99% specificity) using conventional sputum cytology. Improved collection and specimen preparation are being studied to further increase the accuracy of ASC.

Another area of potential promise in detecting early stage lung cancer is malignancy associated changes (MAC) which are defined as subtle morphological and physiologic changes that are found in normal cells of patients harbouring late stage malignant disease (Sun, 2002). Although the concept was not generally accepted in the past due to its subjective nature, recent advancements in image cytometry have refuelled the interest in MAC. Researchers postulate that these subtle changes can be observed more precisely with high resolution image cytometry (Ikeda, 1998) and preliminary data show a sensitivity of approximately 90%. Efficacy parameters associated with MAC are also analyzed in this economic evaluation.



Figure 2.2 Computer-assisted image cytometer at the British Columbia Cancer Agency

Chapter 3. Health Economics

Health economics is a logical and explicit framework to aid health care workers, decision makers, governments, or society, in making decisions regarding the best use of resources. Limits on health care resources mandate that resource allocation decisions be guided by considerations of cost in relation to expected benefits. To facilitate critical allocation decisions, the best current information on both the efficacy of medical practices and their costs must be made available to decision makers in a systematic fashion that will allow them to make valid comparisons among alternatives. This chapter provides a brief overview of economic evaluations in health care and outlines key variables needed for a complete cost analysis of new a medical screening device for lung cancer.

3.1 Economic Evaluations

Modern health economics began its relatively young life in the 1950s and 1960s. In the 1950s famous American economists, such as Kenneth Arrow and Milton Friedman, started analysing the application of classic economic theory to health care and, in particular, to two possible uses: as an aid to decisions on how to allocate resources and as a vehicle for social reform (Jefferson, 2000). A decade later, the increasing pace of technological development and an ageing population, amongst other factors, necessitated the review of resource use with increasing frequency. Economists began publishing descriptive "cost-of-illness" studies dedicated to calculating the burden to society of particular health problems. It wasn't until the mid to late 1970s that economists began trying to adapt evaluative techniques of classic economics such as cost-benefit analysis to health care. The creation in the late 1970s of a single measure of outcome combining quantity and quality of life, which reflected people's preferences for health states, allowed health economists to go further in valuing outcomes of new

interventions. By the 1990s published studies that focused on economic evaluation had increased 8 fold (Jefferson, 2000) with more studies directed to new pharmaceutical products and the relationship between efficiency (achieving the maximal increment in health benefit) and effectiveness of medical interventions. It is likely that economic assessments will increasingly guide policy decisions in the future and this encourages those interested in population-based disease screening to supplement clinical research with economic evaluation.

Economic analysis seeks to identify and make explicit one set of criteria which may be useful in deciding among different uses for limited resources. Without systematic analysis it is difficult to clearly identify the relevant alternatives. For example, should a health care institution introduce a haemodialysis programme or an anti-hypertension therapy programme to prevent stroke? An economic analysis of the two choices would help decision makers determine which is more efficient in terms of cost and outcomes or which produces the most health benefits for the least amount of money. Drummond et al. (1997) define economic evaluation as:

"the comparative analysis of alternative courses of action in terms of both their costs and consequences. Therefore, the basic tasks of any economic evaluation are to identify, measure, value and compare the costs and consequences of the alternatives being considered."

They emphasize that two central features are: (i) that evaluations deal with both inputs (costs) and outputs (consequences or outcomes) and (ii) that economic analysis concerns itself with choices between one or more alternatives. The main role of economic evaluation is to show the relative value of alternative interventions for improving health. Analyses provide information that can help decision makers in a wide variety of settings weigh alternatives and decide which best serve their needs in a particular health setting (Goodwin, 1998). Jefferson et al. (2000) have outlined important steps that should be taken in conducting economic evaluations.

Research steps for an economic evaluation:

Adopted from Jefferson et al., 2000.

- Specification of the question, and baseline comparison group
- Specification of the viewpoint, type and coverage of economic study
- Specification of the key outcome and estimation of effectiveness
- Specification of method for valuation of health outcomes
- Definition of costs to be estimated
- Estimation of differences in quantities of resource use
- Estimation of unit costs of elements of resource use
- Specification of analytic model
- Discounting of both costs and outcomes
- Taking account of time preference
- Summarize economic results
- Sensitivity analysis

The perspective or viewpoint of an economic evaluation is extremely important. The viewpoint for an analysis may be that of a specific provider or providing institution, the patient or groups of patients, a third-party payer (public or private) or society (Laaser, 1990). It is argued that a societal perspective, in which all costs and benefits associated with the introduction of a new program are considered, is the most appropriate (Laupacis, 1992). The ranking of cost-effectiveness ratios calculated from society's point of view should be neutral to value or distributional decisions. Cleary, it is difficult for the analyst to consider every single cost and consequence of a health care programme to all members of society. It is however important to recognize that in considering the use of community resources, the viewpoint of the providing institution may often be too restrictive and a broader viewpoint should be considered. For this particular lung cancer screening model it is most suitable to conduct the economic analysis from a societal view point since the programme is to be widely offered in and accepted by, society.

Evaluation of a screening programme involves the consideration of two issues. First, whether the proposed program is feasible, and second, whether it is effective. The total costs of a potential screening programme must be considered as well as the costs per detected per detected case of the disease (Kramer, 1999). Greater cost-effectiveness in screening programmes could be

achieved if the a specific population could be targeted, on the basis of risk factors, from which most incident cases would likely derive. If this were possible, those who are not at risk for a particular cancer would not undergo routine screening.

3.2 Methods of Economic Evaluations

All methods of economic evaluation have one principle in common: they examine one (or more) possible interventions and compare inputs or resources necessary to carry out such interventions with their consequences or effects. The various methods of economic evaluation differ in the way they itemise and value inputs and consequences. These differences reflect different aims and viewpoints of the decision-making problems. In order to make comparisons between available options it is necessary to find a common unit of value for each of the inputs of the health intervention. If it is relevant to the type of evaluation being conducted, the health consequences are also valued in terms of common units. The four major types of economic evaluation methods are described below.

Cost-minimisation analysis (CMA) – when consequences of the intervention are the same, then only inputs are taken into consideration. The aim is to decide the cheapest way of achieving the same outcome.

Cost-effectiveness analysis (CEA) – when the consequences of different interventions may vary but can be measured in the same units, then inputs are costed. Competing interventions are compared in terms of cost per unit of consequence.

Cost-utility analysis (CUA) – when interventions that are compared produce different consequences in terms of both quantity and quality of life, they are expressed in utilities. These are measures which comprise both length of life and subjective levels of well being. The best known utility measure is the quality-adjusted-life-years or QALYs. In this case, competing interventions are compared in terms of cost per utility or cost per QALY.

Cost-benefit analysis (CBA) – when both the inputs and the consequences of different interventions are expressed in monetary units so that they compare directly across programmes even outside health care.

The main consideration regarding the various methods of economic evaluation is the difference in the way the outcomes are measured, whether in actual number of life years gained, utilities, or monetary terms. CBA is the most detailed of the four methods but also requires significant effort in the design and analysis stages since health must be assigned a dollar value. For the evaluation of this lung cancer screening programme the approach used is that of cost-utility analysis.

In designing economic models that allow costs and outcomes to be valued many researchers use what is called a decision tree approach to comparing the various alternatives for a particular health problem. Decision trees have gained considerable popularity as a vehicle for undertaking economic evaluations as they can describe complex sequences of clinical alternatives. A decision tree flows from left to right beginning with the initial clinical choice or decision for a defined cohort of patients. As a result of the decisions made there will be outcomes of known probabilities that channel patients through the screening process and into the disease state if necessary.

3.3 Costs and Outcomes

Valuing inputs and outcomes (consequences) is the most difficult aspect of conducting economic evaluations. The values of resources are assigned by defining costs. These are considered by economists to be the benefits of opportunities foregone or the best possible alternative use of the same resources (opportunity costs). The opportunity cost of a treatment or intervention is the value of those resources if employed elsewhere (Sloan, 1996). Market prices are available for many of the resources used in health care (CT scans, bronchoscopy, and lung cancer treatment). The theoretical price for a resource is it's opportunity cost however, the pragmatic approach to costing is to take existing market prices unless there is some particular reason to do otherwise, for example if prices of some resources are subsidized by a third party.

3.3.1 Direct and Indirect Costs

Direct costs are those borne by the health care system, community and patients' families in addressing the illness. In this lung cancer screening model these direct costs include such things as the cost of the ACS test, CT scans, bronchoscopy, and treatment costs for the various stages of lung cancer. In a broader sense, direct costs also include the cost of operation of health facilities, land values, paid health professionals, and consumable supplies. Quite often, when new technologies are introduced there are a number of upfront direct costs such as purchasing equipment. It is necessary to determine the opportunity cost of this investment capital plus the depreciation of the equipment over an extended period of time. Annuitization of the depreciation and opportunity costs of capital is applied in such situations and often the cost of equipment is amortized over several years. With respect to the proposed model in this paper, it is assumed that facilities and equipment are currently in place for such diagnostic procedures to be carried out. While it is acknowledged that these are significant assumptions to be making in an

economic model, any extensive research to validate these assumptions is beyond the scope of this paper.

Indirect costs are mainly productivity losses caused by the problem or diseases, borne by the individual, family, society, or employer. Examples include loss of life, lost work time by patients and care-givers, lost leisure time, pain/suffering, bereavement, travel/incidental costs and environment costs. Indirect costs are much harder to measure and there are a variety of methods used by health economists to place a value on these items as they can still have significant effects of the total cost of new interventions. Measurement techniques include the willingness-to-pay approach and contingent valuation (O'Brien, 1994) but they are not the focus of this paper and the costs addressed in this model include only limited indirect costs.

3.3.2 Discounting

Inputs and consequences of a health intervention accrue at different times, especially for chronic diseases and the population based programmes addressing them. In this case, we cannot directly compare the inputs of a programme today with its consequences which may accrue in 5 or 10 years time. Economists 'bring forward' the value of such consequences by using a technique called discounting. This allows the calculation of the present value of inputs and benefits which would accrue in the future. Discounting is based mainly on a time preference which assumes that individuals prefer to forego a part of the benefits if they can accrue them now, rather than accruing them fully in the uncertain future (Jefferson, 2000). The strength of this preference is expressed by the discount rate which is applied in economic evaluations. The choice of a discount rate and the choice of which items it should be applied to are a matter of debate among economists. Recent published studies assessing the cost-effectiveness of lung cancer screening using helical CT scans employed discounts rates of 3% to 5% for costs and life years (Marshall, 2001; Mahadevia, 2002; Henschke, 2000). These are reflective of values most
commonly used in medical literature (Goodwin, 1998; Krahn, 1993). In the model constructed for this project, a 10 year follow-up time line for costs and a 50 year follow-up time for benefits are applied since screening for lung cancer has benefits that accrue in the future. A discount rate of 3% is used of for both costs and QALYs in this model which reflects the guidelines put forth by the Canadian Coordinating Office for Health Technology Assessment (CCOHTA, 1997).

3.3.3. Outcome Measures

The goal of a new medical intervention is to improve the health status of a target population. In this cost-utility analysis the clinical outcome used to measure the health benefit is the number of quality-adjusted life years gained. It is hypothesized that the earlier lung cancer is detected in an individual, the greater the chance for long term survival and accrual of maximal life years. Due to time constraints, most randomized controlled trials are not able to follow patients for their entire lifetime and so outcomes are measured over a shorter predetermined time frame. When using a decision model to simulate the inputs and outcomes of a hypothetical cohort, time can be easily adjusted to allow for longer follow-up. More complete results are achieved in terms of life years gained by using ASC as an initial screening tool for lung cancer. Cost-utility will be reported in terms of cost per QALY gained. The incremental cost-utility ratio between screening strategies will be presented to summarize results.

There is considerable argument in economic evaluations that evaluate screening programmes to use cost-utility or cost-benefit analysis. Both types of evaluation reflect the fact that there is a difference in the quality of life for patients living with early stage lung cancer compared to those patients living with end stage disease. Quality of life measures describe the subjective level of well-being among patients and the use of the QALY is the most common method for incorporating such criteria. Within the field of health economics there is extensive debate over the validity of methods used to measure quality of life. Utility analysis is viewed as a

useful technique because it allows for quality of life assignments to a given set of treatment outcomes, while simultaneously providing a generic outcome measure for comparison of costs and outcomes in different programmes. The QALY is arrived at by adjusting the length of time affected with the health outcome by the utility value on a scale of 0 to 1 where 0 indicates death and 1 indicates perfect health. The adjusted time in each health state is summed to calculate the number of quality-adjusted life years over an entire lifetime (or as long as patients are followed). The QALY measure can capture gains from reduced morbidity (quality gains) and reduced mortality (quantity gains) and integrate them into a single measure. Figure 3.1 provides a visual representation of how QALYs are used and how they affect the health benefits of a programme.

3.4 Statistical Variables and Probabilities

The decision model for evaluating the cost-effectiveness of 3 different approaches to lung cancer screening incorporates many statistical variables into the algorithms. When creating such a model it is necessary to make assumptions about a large proportion of parameters that affect the results and it is often argued that validity of cost-effectiveness results are only as good as the assumptions they are based on.

3.4.1 Probability Inputs

Disease prevalence is especially important in the beginning phase of a lung cancer screening model. This value will determine how many lung cancer cases actually arise in the hypothetical cohort and how many cases exist for detection with screening. Estimates of probabilities used in a decision model should come from previous randomized, controlled studies



Figure 3.1 QALYs gained from an intervention

Without the health intervention the individual's health related quality of life would deteriorate according to the lower curve and the individual would die at time Death 1. With the health intervention the individual would deteriorate more slowly, live longer, and die at time Death 2. The area between the two curves is the number of QALYs gained by the intervention. Part A is the amount of QALY gained due to quality improvements and Part B is the amount of QALY gained due to quality improvements (Adapted from Drummond et al., 2002).

published in peer-reviewed literature to reduce the level of uncertainty surrounding the assumptions. In this economic model, clinical data from the Lung Health Study (refer to Chapter 5), conducted at the BCCA, will aid in determining a prevalence detection rate of lung cancer in a high risk cohort screened using the proposed technique of ASC.

As discussed in Chapter 2, the sensitivity and specificity of the screening tests also play a significant role in the results of an economic analysis. The decision tree incorporates 3 sequential techniques used to screen for lung cancer including ACS, CT scan and bronchoscopy. Each of these procedures has its own sensitivity and specificity. Again, these values are taken from published results of previous lung cancer screening studies and can be varied in a sensitivity analysis described in the next section.

Lastly, there are transition probabilities associated with the various stages of lung cancer in the decision tree. Patients in the model will not necessarily stay in the same state for the entire follow-up period but rather move from one state to another. For example, the probability of moving from early stage lung cancer to late stage lung cancer is different that the probability of moving from late stage cancer back to a healthy state. Similarly, the chances of a patients moving to a death state and no longer accruing life years, varies depending on the stage of the disease. Transition probabilities for disease survival and remission as well as natural mortality (life tables) are used in this model.

3.4.2 Sensitivity Analysis

Models are an attempt to capture and summarise reality. However, the effects of health care are often uncertain and our models tend to be based on real data (epidemiological, clinical, or resource data) which are sometimes incomplete, of uncertain quality, or simply not available. Epidemiology, for instance, provides us with an estimate of probabilities (of developing lung cancer, moving from one disease stage to another or dying from lung cancer).

Where data are absent or of questionable certainty, the gap may be filled using assumptions. To deal with uncertainty in models of this type, economic evaluations use a technique called sensitivity analysis which repeats the comparison between inputs and consequences while varying the assumptions within a likely range. In other words, sensitivity analyses test the robustness of conclusions by varying the probabilities that have uncertainty around them. (Jefferson et al, 2000). Variables can be altered on an individual basis or in combination with one or more additional variables in a multi-way sensitivity analysis. Since this model incorporates a large number of variables, each with a distinct range of plausible values, sensitivity analyses compare a base case analysis to using the most favourable and least favourable set of input variables. Depending on the outcome of one way sensitivity analyses, those variables found to have the greatest effect on cost-utility outcomes can be varied simultaneously in a two or three way sensitivity analysis.

Chapter 4. Literature Review

4.1 Introduction

With increasing interest in the way that health care dollars are spent, there is greater focus on cost-effectiveness in medical research. Since the early 1990s the number of costeffectiveness analyses (CEA) published has nearly tripled (Figure 4.1). The popularity of costeffectiveness analysis over cost-benefit analysis (CBA) is due to methodological difficulties with the latter that require all inputs and consequences to be valued in dollars. New benefit measurement techniques such as willingness-to-pay and conjoint analysis may rekindle CBA over time (Jefferson, 2000).

It is important to point out the use of terms in medical literature that refer to the various methods of economic evaluations. North American economists often use the term CEA to include both cost-minimization analysis (CMA) and cost-utility analysis (CUA). The titles of published economic evaluations are not always accurate indicators of the type of economic evaluation actually conducted and it is up to the reader to assess how inputs and consequences are measured. Table 4.1 outlines the criteria for various types of economic evaluation. For a complete analysis, the cost and consequences must be examined for each alternative and then those alternatives must be compared to one another.

To evaluate the data from economic studies on lung cancer screening it is worth discussing the cost-effectiveness of other screening programmes currently in place in the health care community. In addition, it is useful to have some insight into the costs of treating lung cancer and the disease's financial burden on society. For these reasons, this chapter includes information from published literature that should offer some added perspective on the results of economic studies in lung cancer screening.





Table 4.1 Distinguishing Characteristics of Published Economic Health Care Evaluations

Are both costs (inputs) and consequences (outcomes) of the alternatives examined?

	ON		YES
	Examines only	Examines only	
	consequences	costs	
0 Z	PARTIAL EVALU	ATION	PARTIAL EVALUATION
	Outcome	Cost	Cost-outcome description
	description	description	
12.00 A 10 A			
	PARTIAL EVALU	ATION	FULL EVALUATION
			Cost-minimization analysis
YES	Efficacy or	Cost	Cost-effectiveness analysis
· · ·	effectiveness	analysis	Cost-utility analysis
	study	- ·	Cost-benefit analysis

Is there comparison

of two or more alternatives?

4.2 Data Sources and Methods

For this literature review, the focus was on studies in which a cost-effectiveness or costutility analysis was the central aim of the research. Several computerized, bibliographic databases were searched including PUBMED, EMBASE, HealthSTAR, OVID, and CancerLit. A combination of search terms was used to narrow the search to economic studies rather than studies relating to the clinical effectiveness of screening for lung cancer. "Lung cancer screening and cost" as well as "lung cancer screening and cost-effectiveness" were the search terms used most frequently. In addition, "lung cancer and economics" and "lung cancer and cost", were terms used to capture a broader spectrum of the cost of this illness in the health care setting.

Selection criteria for these scientific articles limited the studies to those published in English between January 1990 and January 2003. Due to limited data on the economics of lung cancer screening programmes, editorials, commentaries, and results presented in government publications (in Canada only) were considered and reviewed for relevant information. Letters, unpublished studies, and summaries of presentations given at medical conferences or brief transcripts of meetings were excluded. Only data provided in the reports were considered with the exception of 1 study by Chirikos et al. (2002), in which a technical report, providing further detail on the economic model, was obtained from the authors.

The articles selected for inclusion in this review were categorized into 3 groups. Group A contained articles whose central focus was a CEA or CUA of lung cancer screening. Group B contained articles with an incomplete economic analysis or with data relating to the cost of treating/managing lung cancer. Lastly, articles relating to other cancer screening programmes or the cost-effectiveness of other medical interventions were placed in Group C. It should be noted that studies falling into Group C were selected from articles published between 1990 and 2002 found using search terms that incorporated other cancers (breast, colorectal, prostrate, cervical),

screening and cost-effectiveness. Only studies that had a complete economic analysis of screening were considered for inclusion in Group C.

The scientific quality of the selected articles was assessed according to criteria developed by Drummond et al. (1997) for the critical appraisal of a published article in health economics. A critique of each study in Group A is also presented in the discussion (Section 4.4).

4.3 Results

Upon searching several bibliographic databases revealed a variety of studies relating to the economics of lung cancer were found. However, only a small number of articles were directly related to the economics of lung cancer screening and more specifically there were only 7 eligible published studies that contained a complete economic evaluation of a lung cancer screening strategy. Table 4.2 outlines the number of eligible and ineligible citations identified through the different databases. There was overlap between different databases and the number of studies unique to any one database is given in brackets in Table 4.2. Many of the studies on cost-effectiveness focused on staging and/or treatment options for lung cancer and were therefore eliminated. An equal number of papers examined the clinical effectiveness of screening or treating lung cancer and were also classifieds as ineligible for review. Despite the fact that such articles on clinical efficacy of lung cancer screening were not reviewed in this chapter, data from these studies was used in the modeling section of this paper. It should be noted that 2 of the studies written in Japanese (Baba et al., 1998 and Iinuma et al., 1988), although eliminated, had abstracts showing the article contained cost-effective analyses related to lung cancer screening. Table 4.3 summarizes the number of eligible articles in each of Group A, B and C.

new province and a second and the second	PUBMED	EMBASE	HealthSTAR	CancerLit	OVID	TOTAL
•	(dates)					(# in brackets)
Total Number of Citations	118(118)*	71(24)	85(25)	108(17)	(6)//	193
Total Eligible Citations	19(19)	12(3)	14(5)	19(4)	14(1)	32
Group A Studies	7(7)	4(0)	5(0)	2(0)	1(0)	L
Group B Studies	12(12)	8(3)	9(5)	17(4)	13(1)	25
Total Ineligible Citations	(66)66	59(21)	71(20)	89(13)	63(8)	161
1. Studies focused on C/E of staging or treatment of LC	32(32)	17(3)	16(4)	24(5)	22(1)	45
2. Studies on clinical effectiveness of screening/treatments for LC	31(31)	11(1)	26(7)	21(2)	18(4)	45
3. Studies focused on other cancers	10(10)	15(8)	11(5)	19(0)	14(3)	26
4. Studies not in English	11(11)	3(0)	2(0)	13(1)	0	12
Studies focus on decision analysis design strategies	1(1)	3(2)	7(2)	4(0)	2(0)	S
6. Studies published prior to 1990	14(14)	10(7)	6(2)	18(5)	(0)	28
*# in brackets () indicates those articles uni	ique to that par	ticular database				

F JJ:U Ē ų ζ . Ş -• 5 4 ,

Group A Studies

Most cost-effectiveness studies in lung cancer screening have focused on chest x-ray or CT scans as the methods of early detection for lung cancer. There are no published studies that assess the cost-effectiveness of using ASC an initial screening test for lung cancer. Table 4.4 presents a summary of the 7 published cost-effectiveness analyses. All results have been inflated to 2002 US dollars to facilitate comparisons across studies. Of the 7 studies in this grouping, 5 of them were conducted in the United States and 2 in Japan. All of the studies compare one or more screening alternatives to no screening. There is a wide range of costs per life year gained reported in these studies due to differences in model assumptions and parameters used in the studies. A 1-time prevalence screening program may cost as little as \$6,414 per life year saved (Marshall et al., 2001) and as much as \$94,047 per life year saved (Chirikos et al., 2002) with an annual 5-year screening programme. The only study to incorporate QALYs in cost-utility ratios was the most recent one conducted by Mahadevia et al. (2003) out of Johns Hopkins Medical Centre in Baltimore. This is the most complete economic evaluation from the perspective of health economists, many of whom believe that quality of life plays an important role in costeffectiveness. The base-case analysis from this study, which models screening in current smokers annually for 20 years, resulted in a cost-utility ratio of \$118,139 per QALY. A critical assessment of these 7 studies was carried out according to the criterion set out by Drummond et al. (1997) in evaluating economic evaluations (Table 4.5). Results show a varying degree of thoroughness among the economic decision models. It was unclear as to the perspective of the economic analysis in the papers published by Caro et al. (2000) and by Okamoto (2000). In a number of the studies, important costs were omitted (Marshall et al., 2001 and Caro et al., 2000) and although all costs and consequences were measured in appropriate

	Focus of Study	Number of Eligible Articles
Group A	Complete economic analysis of a lung	7
	cancer screening strategy	
Group B	Incomplete economic analysis of a lung	21
	cancer screening strategy, economic data	
	on cost of treatment/management of	•
	lung cancer, economic burden of disease	
	studies	·
Group C	Cost-effectiveness of other cancer	11
-	screening strategies and other medical	· ·
	interventions, acceptable cost-	
	effectiveness ratios in the health	
	community	

 Table 4.3 Summary of Articles Selected for Inclusion in Literature Review

Authors Date/Location Dollar Values	Type of Economic Evaluation	Target Population Frequency of Screening	Lung Cancer Screening Technique(s) Used	Parameters	Cost- Effectiveness or Cost-Utility	C/E Adjusted for Inflation to 2002 US\$
Mahadevia et al. 2003/Baltimore	Cost-utility (QALYs gained)	60 yrs old, (55% male) 100 000 hypothetical cohort	Helical CT scan	50% stage shift LC Incidence 0.43 Lngth/Overdiag.bi	\$116,300 per QALY \$42,500 per QALY	\$118,139 per QALY \$43,172 per QALY
2001 US\$\$		20> Pack Years Annual screen for 20 yrs Follow-up for 40 yrs		as: 200% Current Smokers	(favourable estimate)	, . ,
Chirikos et al. 2002/Florida	Cost- effectiveness	45-74 yrs old Annual screen for 5 yrs	Low-Dose Helical CT	100% participation 50% localized LC	\$33,884 per life yr	\$35,400 per life yr
2000 US\$\$	(me yrs gained)	siy ci idi qu-wollo'i	(no contrast – 1 screen) (with contrast –	w/screen Life yrs not discounted		
-			diagnostic)	30% localized LC	\$90,022 per life yr	\$94,047 per life yr
			• .	w/screen Least favourable		• .
				assumpt.		
Marshall et al. 2001/California	Cost- effectiveness (life yrs	60-74 yrs old (45% male) 100 000 hypothetical cohort	Low-Dose Helical CT	LC prevalence 2.7%	\$5,940 per life yr	\$6,414 per life yr
1999 US\$\$	gained)	45 Pack Years (median) 1 time prevalence screen		LC prevalence 0.7%	\$23,100 per life yr	\$24,944 per life yr
		Follow-up for 5 years		1-year lead time bias	\$58,183 per life yr	\$62,828 per life yr
Marshall et. al. 2001/Hamilton	Cost-utility (life yrs gained)	60-74 yrs old 100 000 hypothetical cohort	Low-Dose Helical CT	LC prevalence 2.7%	\$18,968 per life yr \$19,522/QALY	\$21,080/QALY
4440 A441		Annual screen tor 2 years		1-year lead time bias	\$61,723 per life yr \$50,473/QALY	\$54,502/QALY

Table 4.4 Detailed Review of 7 Group A Studies - Full Economic Evaluations

d.
ont
4 2
- 4
plde
Ĥ

C/E Adjusted for Inflation to 2002 US\$	Dominated (less costly, more effective) \$32,580 per life yr 532,580 per life yr (less cost, more effective)	 \$59,000 per life yr (1983 mass screen) \$35,800 per life yr (1993 mass screen) \$29,500 per life yr (1993 CT screen) 	 \$21,935 per life yr \$39,481 per life yr \$25,965 per life yr 	\$102,646 per life saved \$56,730 per life
Cost- Effectiveness or Cost-Utility	Central Lesions: Sputa as initial test dominated ⁺ Peripheral Lesions: \$27,600 per life yr for SFBE vs FBE Sputa prior to F, FBT, T dominated ⁺	1983 and 1993 yen converted to 2002 US dollars	<pre>\$19,874 per life yr \$35,772 per life yr (10% mortal. reduct) \$23,526 per life yr (50% participation)</pre>	\$93,000 per life saved (50+ yrs old) \$51,400 per life
Parameters	Sputum Sensitivity (Central) 0.4 (Peripheral) 0.2 Sputum Specificity (Central) 0.95 (Peripheral) 0.95 Pretest probability of local NSCLC 0.3	 5 yr survival 60% with CT (50% stage shift) 	Mortality reduction 18% 100% participation	Clinical data used LC prevalence 0.09%
Lung Cancer Screening Technique(s) Used	Sputa (S) 3 day pooled FNA (F) Thoracoscopy (T) Bronchoscopy (B) Expectant management (E)	Chest X-ray Chest X- Ray/sputum cytol. CT scan	Chest X-ray	Chest X-ray
Target Population Frequency of Screening	1 male patient with suspected LC (peripheral vs central lesion) 1 time screen	Mass Screening (1983) Mass Screening (1993) CT Screening (1993) Males 55+, females 65+	45-80 yr old males only 100 000 hypoth. cohort Heavy smokers Annual screen	40-80 yr old General population 1 time screen
Type of Economic Evaluation	Cost- effectiveness (life yrs gained)	Cost- effectiveness (life yrs gained)	Cost- effectiveness (life yrs gained)	Cost- effectiveness (life saved)
Authors Date/Location Dollar Values	Raab et al. 1997/Iowa City 1995 US\$\$	Okamoto, N. 2000/Japan	Caro et al. 2000/Massachusetts 1998 US\$\$	Baba et al. 1998/Japan

nalyses
V
conomic
Ē.
Full
1
Studies
\blacksquare
Group
Jf
Evaluation (
al
Critic
S.
lable 4.

Criterion for Evaluation of an Economic Analysis	Mahadevia et al.	Chirikos et al.	Marshall et al. (1x prev. scrn.)	Marshall et al. (5x annual scn)	Caro et al.	Окатого, И.	Raab et al.	Baba et al.
1. Was a well defined question posed in answerable form?	Y	Y	Y	Υ	Ч	P	Υ	പ
2. Was a comprehensive description of the alternatives given?	Y	Y	Y	Υ	Z .	ď	Υ	¥
3. Was the effectiveness of the programmes or services established?	*d	Ч	Р	Δ	Р	Р	P	đ
 Were all the important and relevant costs and consequences for each alternative identified?** 	Y	Z	Z	Y		<u>е</u> ,	Y	ď
5. Were costs and consequences measured accurately in appropriate physical units?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	<u>а</u>
6. Were costs and consequences valued credibly?	, X	Y	Y	Y	Ă	¥	Y	Y
7. Were costs and consequences adjusted for differential timing (discounting)?	Y	only costs	Y	Y	only costs	Z	Y	Z
8. Was an incremental analysis of costs and consequences of alternatives performed?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Z
9. Was allowance made for uncertainty in the estimates of costs and consequences? (e:	Y xtensive) (Y minimal)	Y	Y (extensive)	Y (minimal)	Y (minimal)	Y (minimal)	Z
10. Did the presentation and discussion of study results include all issues of concern to users?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ż	Z	Ч	Z

* = Partially done (i.e. the clinical effectiveness of lung cancer screening is still being debated in the medical literature)
** = Only the study conducted by Mahadevia et al. incorporated some opportunity costs into the economic model

units, two models did not discount life-years gained, Chirikos et al. (2003) and Caro et al. (2000). All studies incorporated some degree of sensitivity analysis for input variables in the models, although there was some question regarding the range and choice of variable tested. Due to controversial medical data currently surrounding the clinical effectiveness of various lung cancer screening strategies (i.e. whether screening actually reduce mortality), each of these 7 studies only partially fulfilled the requirement that programmes be screening efficacy be clinically established.

Group B Studies

There were a number of instances when cost-effectiveness results were presented alongside studies assessing the clinical effectiveness of lung cancer screening strategies. In all cases, these were not complete economic analyses but rather crude estimates of the costs related to one particular method of screening. For example, in a study conducted by Sone et al. (2001) in Japan that evaluated a mass screening programme for lung cancer using CT scans, the cost per life year gained from screening was estimated to be \$21,296 (2000 US\$) for women aged 55 to 59 and \$8,148 for men aged 55 to 59. Incorporating a higher detection rate of lung cancer using CT scans, the authors reduced the costs to approximately \$2,290 for women and \$728 for men to save a life year in the 55 to 59 year-old patients.

In a proposed screening model designed by Maccabbee (1994), chest x-ray was used to screen smokers between the age of 50-75 with a >20 pack year smoking history with a 1-time prevalence screen. Estimates of cost-effectiveness reported were \$7,140 per life year gained. Assumptions in this crude model include a 10% decrease in mortality from chest x-ray screening and 100% participation by 13 million Americans. More recently, Nakhosteen (2000) outlined the costs associated with a proposed feasibility study on the detection of early lung carcinoma in Germany. Techniques used to screen 5000 high risk smokers (>30 pack years), aged 50-74 and

1000 industrially exposed smokers, included the use of the CytoSavant for sputum cytometry, the same device put forth in this research, as well as the LIFE-LUNG bronchoscope also used as a third line diagnostic tool in this research. Crude costing for such a programme was estimated at 1,715,282 Euros (2,620,905 CDN\$) for screening and 737,500 Euros (1,126,869 CDN\$) for treatment of screened patients. The author concluded that such a feasibility study would exceed the cost of present day diagnosis and therapy by approximately 1.1 million Euros (1,680,770 CDN\$).

With respect to diagnostic costs, only a study by Goldberg-Kahn et al. (1997) used a decision analytic model to compare four strategies (fine-needle aspirate (FNA), sputum cytology, bronchoscopy, and open biopsy) for the workup of a solitary radiographic lung lesion (a 2.8cm lesion in a 51.4 year-old patient who smokes 15 cigarettes per day). Outcomes were expressed in terms of cost per correct diagnosis. Results showed open biopsy to be the best initial procedure with a cost per correct diagnosis of \$12,888 (1996 US\$). Sputum examination had the highest cost at \$63,424 per correct diagnosis with FNA and bronchoscopy in between at \$21,543 and \$16,615 respectively. Sputum cytology was the preferred strategy only when the patient was not a surgical candidate, the lesion size was large (>4.7cm) and only if sputum sensitivity was greater than 45%. It should be emphasized that this study focused only on costs and not health outcomes.

Finally, the Health Analysis and Modeling Group at Statistics Canada have produced a number of reports on the costs associated with lung cancer diagnosis and treatment in Canada. A micro simulation model called POHEM (Population Health Model), designed by this group, provides a framework for integrating diverse data and analytical results in the health discipline (Will, 2001). POHEM creates synthetic populations at birth and provides them with demographic and labour force characteristics. It incorporates and reconciles data on risk factors, disease onset and progression, health care resources utilization, direct medical care costs and health outcomes

(Wolfson, 1992; Houle, 1997). POHEM currently models lung cancer, breast cancer, coronary disease, arthritis and dementia and soon to be completed colorectal cancer (Will, 2001).

Although POHEM primarily assess the cost-effectiveness of diagnostic and therapeutic options for lung cancer, an evaluation of lung cancer screening using POHEM was presented by Berthelot et al. at the 14th Annual Meeting of the International Society of Technology Assessment in Health Care (Ottawa, 1998). Results from this decision model evaluating sputum cytology testing as a screening tool in a 50 year-old cohort, where chemoprevention is assumed to be 45% effective at reducing lung cancer, showed the cost per life year saved to be between \$42,000 (1998 CAN\$) and \$58,000 depending on frequency of screening. These same parameters applied to a 65 year-old cohort reduced the cost per life year saved to between \$39,000 and \$25,000. Both scenarios applied sensitivity and specificity values of 0.82 and 0.65 respectively for sputum cytology. No discounting was performed and no quality of life measures were built into this particular model.

Group C Studies

For comparison, cost-effectiveness and cost-utility results for other cancer screening strategies as well as other medical interventions are reported in Table 4.6. These studies were not selected in a random fashion, but rather to provide focused comparisons with interventions or target populations that many agree are cost-effective and have costs per life year gained in the same range as lung cancer screening estimates. Although there is no clearly stated cut-off for the acceptance of interventions as being cost-effective, interventions that have cost-effectiveness equal to or less than \$50,000 (U.S.) per life year gained are considered to be acceptable (Goodwin, 1998). Canadian authors Laupacis et al. (1992) evaluated cut-off limits based on

Table 4.6 League Table of Various Health Care Inventions Including Other CancerScreening Strategies

Other Screening Interventions	Cost per life year/Cost per QALY (2000 US dollars)	Reference
Nicotine gum (vs no gum) and smoking advice for persons 35-69 yrs old	\$13,100 per life yr	Strauss
Annual cervical screening for women >60 yrs old	\$15,600 per life yr	Strauss
Annual mammography and breast examination (vs just examination) for females 40-64 yrs old	\$24,100 per life yr	Strauss
Mammography screening vs no population based screening for women 45-69 yrs old	\$18,000 per QALY	Earle
Colorectal cancer screening for persons >40 yrs old	\$6,400 per life yr	Strauss
Colonoscopy for colorectal cancer screening for persons >40 yrs old	\$127,700 per life yr	Strauss
Hypertension screening in asymptomatic persons 60 yrs old	\$19,900 per life yr	Tengs
Hypertension screening every 5 yrs for men 55-64 yrs old	\$41,900 per life yr	Tengs
Screen blood donors for HIV	\$19,900 per life yr	Tengs
Bone mass screening for perimenopausal women 50 yrs old (plus treat if <1.0 g/cm ²)	\$25,500 per life yr	Tengs
Smoking cessation advice for men 50-54 yrs old	\$1,340 per life yr	Tengs
Smoking cessation advice for women 50- 54 yrs old	2,300 per life yr	Tengs
Nicotine gum (vs. no gum) and cessation advice for men 35-69 yrs old	\$10,150 per life yr	Tengs

grades of recommendation for the adoption and appropriate use of new technologies. The group concluded that technologies that cost less than \$25,500/QALY (2002 CDN\$ adjusted for inflation) are almost universally accepted as being appropriate ways of using society's and the health care system's resources. Many technologies costing between \$25,500/QALY and \$128,000/QALY are provided routinely, but the availability of some is significantly limited.

Tengs et al. (1995) have published a comprehensive list of life saving interventions and their associated cost-effectiveness (N=587). Included in the review were studies on environmental, health care, toxin control, transportation and occupational interventions. As the data in Table 4.6 shows, other cancer screening strategies such as breast, cervical and some colorectal cancers are considered cost-effective. The literature review study found the median cost per life year saved in the health care sector (N=310) to be 23,550/life year (adjusted to 2002 dollars) (Tengs et al, 1995). No lung cancer screening strategies were included in the analysis.

4.4 Discussion

After examining the literature for published studies on the cost-effectiveness of lung cancer screening it is clear that there is considerable debate on the success of such programmes. Much of the research being conducted relates to the clinical effectiveness of screening devices in this field since there is no gold standard advocated in lung cancer screening as of yet. These types of studies were not reviewed in this paper.

All of the papers reviewed were written in English and a large proportion (5 out of 7) of the Group A studies (containing full economic evaluations) were carried out in the United States which could lead to publication bias. With respect to difference among countries where these studies were conducted, the United States and Canada are known to have similar demographics and disease incidence for lung cancer, but do have different clinical practice patterns and health care system incentives. As well, all Group A studies were based on decision analysis models that were constructed based on clinical assumptions and results from other medical literature.

There can be a challenge in making comparisons across studies because of varying results from clinical trials evaluating the efficacy and effectiveness of lung cancer screening. Researchers are able to choose input variables for decision models on lung cancer screening from a large number of clinical studies and therefore results may be biased in favour of reducing costeffectiveness/utility ratios. Mahadevia et al. (2003) used weighted averages of some variables such as lung cancer prevalence, false positives and test sensitivity and specificity. Until screening for early stage lung cancer is proven to be clinically effective, (i.e. reduces mortality), no wide spread, population based screening programme will be advocated. This does not mean however, that such economic analyses are irrelevant since physicians and oncologist in this field are currently using many of these detection strategies regularly.

Only one economic model included quality of life among lung cancer patients (Chirikos et al., 2002) and as such incorporates the widest scope of input variables into the decision model. This study does not however discount quality of life years but does discount costs and therefore the resulting cost-utility ratios are underestimated. Without a doubt, there are methodological differences in each of these studies and all the results should be interpreted with some caution. The recommended target population for lung cancer screening is an older cohort of current or former smokers. It is rare that cancer screening programmes are offered to the general population but Chirikos et al. (2003) evaluated a model for lung cancer screening without targeting a high risk population thereby generating very conservative results.

Group B studies were chosen for review because the results can be of assistance to other researchers in this field and to this project. The Goldberg-Kahn study (1997) conducted in Nebraska, U.S., focused only on the difference in cost per correct diagnosis for a variety of

diagnostic procedures in lung cancer including conventional sputum cytology. Results such as these can be of use in future economic decision analysis models and should guide further research into which input variables are most influential in such evaluations.

Canadian statistics offer a more accurate picture of the burden on lung cancer in this country and the micro simulation model constructed by Health Canada aids in creating a clearer picture of diagnosis and treatment costs for this disease. POHEM has only analyzed a rudimentary model for lung cancer screening at this point in time and inclusion of many pertinent variables still need to be added to the model (i.e. discounting, quality of life, and sensitivity analysis for costs).

Using \$50,000 US per life year gained as an acceptable cut-off for health interventions means that many of these decision models show lung cancer screening to be moderately cost-effective, provided certain clinical findings are validated with randomized-controlled trials. The origins of the \$50,000 figure are murky but might be traced to 1973 when the United States congress decided that government would pay for haemodialysis for patients with end-stage renal disease. As a result, the cost-effectiveness of this, \$50,000 per life year has become standard. There is some evidence that the relative prices of medications and surgical procedures tend to be higher in the United States than in other countries (Drummond, 1992, 1994).

It is useful to compare the cost-effectiveness associated with other cancer screening programmes already in place. Earle et al. (2000) have published an extensive league table of cost-effectiveness ratios for various medical interventions. The results are presented in terms of cost per QALY in 1998 US dollars. Table 4.6 includes some examples. The first widely accepted breast cancer screening programme in Canada was designed and evaluated at the BCCA in British Columbia and the methodology behind this successful programme can help guide the province's lung cancer screening model.

From a health economist's point of view, the best time to conduct cost-effective analyses is alongside randomized-controlled trials. There were no studies that addressed the costutility of using ASC as a first screening tool as is proposed this paper. In addition, as the role of health economics in medical interventions continues to strengthen, more studies are expected to be published in this area.

Chapter 5. The Lung Health Study at the British Columbia Cancer Agency

As part of this research, the effectiveness of using computer ASC in a clinical setting is evaluated and the results form the basis for further assumptions that are built into the economic model constructed in Chapter 6.

5.1 Introduction

Since there is little research on the use of ASC in detecting early stage lung cancer it is helpful to incorporate results from current field studies into the economic model. This will prevent having to use disease prevalence, staging shifts and other data on lung cancer that was obtained using different screening algorithms than the one proposed in this paper.

The Lung Health Study is a clinical arm of the Cancer Imaging Department at the BC Cancer Research Centre. The main focus of the Lung Health Study is chemoprevention and screening trials. Individuals at high risk for lung dysplasias are screened using the CytoSavant micro-imager and the LIFE bronchoscopy system, both of which were developed by the Cancer Imaging Department. Alongside this study, research is also being conducted to assess the use of thoracic spiral CT scans alongside sputum analysis as a potentially effective algorithm for lung cancer screening.

Criteria for entry into the study requires that patients are between the ages of 45 and 74, be current or former smokers with a >30 pack year history, who are not currently undergoing chemotherapy or radiation therapy and a resident of British Columbia. All patients receive sputum analysis. Specimens are collected using an oscillating vest worn by the patient that helps to loosen secretions in the lung. In a combined effort with the Vancouver General Hospital Radiology Department patients also receive a spiral CT scan as part of a parallel study being conducting by the BCCA. Those individuals with positive sputum are offered a bronchoscopy at

the BCCA. Despite the fact that no lung cancer screening strategy is advocated, bronchoscopy is considered to be the gold standard in the diagnosis of lung cancer. The study is currently on-going at the BCCA with a focus on early detection of lung cancer.

5.2 Data Sources and Methods

The Lung Health Study data is maintained in a database at the BC Cancer Research Centre. Information collected from the initial questionnaire, including smoking and disease history as well as sputum, CT and bronchoscopy results are managed by a data manager for the project. Since information previous to 1995 was considered to be incomplete (i.e. not all results were entered into the database) results for this analysis were conducted using information from patients who had entered the study between January 1, 1995 up to and including December 31, 2001. It should be noted that in addition to Lung Health Study patients, this database contains information on any patient seen at the Respiratory Clinic at the BCCA. In order for results to be as complete as possible the entire database was searched for patients who were born after January 1, 1956, who also had a smoking history of >20 pack years as calculated by study researchers. This change in selection criteria from >30 pack years to >20 pack years was applied in order for results from the economic analysis to be considered conservative with respect to other published data on lung cancer and smoking history (Mahadevia et al., 2003).

Patients who met the initial eligibility criteria were further reviewed for any reasons that would make them ineligible for final inclusion. If any of the following applied to a patient they were deemed ineligible for inclusion in further statistical calculations:

- non-smoker
- previous lung cancer
- previous head and neck cancer
- any previous cancer within last 5 years (excluding non-melanoma skin)
- clinic patient or referral patient (i.e. already suspected of having lung cancer)

- follow-up patients seen for repeat bronchoscopy
- consult patient (presented with lung mass)
- ABI study patients (from previous study where lung cancer is suspected)
- missing information (i.e. not enough known about patient history to make an informed decision on eligibility)

From the perspective of any cancer screening programme, the goal is to detect the cancer at an early stage before clinical symptoms appear. All eligible patients in this cohort, although smokers, has no clinical indications of lung cancer and were otherwise 'healthy' at the time of sputum screening.

The provincial cancer registry in the province of British Columbia was then used as a source for current diagnostic status among eligible patients. Using a provincial health number, date of birth, first and last name, patients from the Lung Health Study were linked to the cancer registry database to determine which patients had a diagnosis of lung cancer. The B.C. cancer registry is considered to be the most complete source of information for disease status among patients in the province. Although most prevalent cases of lung cancer were found through the Lung Health study, this linkage allowed those patients who had developed lung cancer subsequent to our initial testing to be identified. Additional information was also collected on patients using this linkage including any other cancer diagnosis, patient status (alive or dead), and death date.

Data obtained through linkage with the B.C. Cancer Registry was collected in two separate linkages. The first linkage included patients in our database that had an Agency ID (N=1833) number and could therefore be easily linked to a registry data field. The second linkage for patients with no Agency ID in our database (N=1360) required that a selection of other identification fields be used. These fields included patient surname, patient first name, date of birth, and PHN. All four of these fields from the Lung Health Study database had to match exactly with cancer registry data in order for a patient record to be considered eligible. It should

be emphasized that the registry was only used to assess what patients in the Lung Health Study had develop cancer (particularly without our knowledge) and that all other statistical analyses was carried out on data from our own study database.

Sputum results from all patients were classified as normal or atypical depending on results from ASC. In order for a patients sputum cytometry results to be classifieds as atypical the DNA index scores for each patient were examined. If the number of cells with a DNA index of 1.2 was equal to or greater than 5 (out of approximately 3000 cells), the sputum was classified as atypical. In cases where there were 4 or less cells with a DNA index of 1.2, the sputum sample was considered normal. Patients with previous cancers who also had a positive sputum cytometry test were evaluated as follows. Those with any previous lung cancer were not considered in further calculations, and all others with recent cancers less than 5 years old were excluded. Patients with a previous cancer considered to be in remission for more than 5 years were included in calculations.

An individual chart review was conducted for eligible patients found to have lung cancer, whether through the Lung Health Study or the cancer registry. Patient information was examined for any data that may have been previously missed that may exclude the patient from inclusion in the final statistics. Time between sputum analysis and diagnosis was noted as well as the time lapsed between initial stage at diagnosis and current stage of disease. Bronchoscopy results were used to determine stage at diagnosis and type of lung cancer (NSCLC or SCLC). Patients were further classified according to the number of sequential bronchoscopies carried out.

Cohort characteristics were calculated including age, pack years, sex ratios, smoking history, and average length of follow-up (yrs). The lung cancer prevalence rate in this high risk cohort was also determined and is used in the economic model in the following chapter.

5.3 Results

In order to avoid prematurely excluding any lung cancer patients, both linkages were done prior to applying any exclusion criteria to individual patients. Of the 3193 patients in our database at the B.C. Cancer Research Centre, 1833 had Cancer Agency ID numbers and were included in the first linkage with the registry. The link reported that 364 of these patients had lung cancer and after applying exclusion criteria to this group (in addition to individual record review from the Cancer Agency Information System (CAIS), only 44 patients required detailed chart review for a final eligibility decision. After ensuring all inclusion criteria were met and no exclusion criteria applied to these patients, 31 lung cancer patients were deemed eligible for inclusion in this analysis. Non lung cancer patients were also subject to inclusion/exclusion criteria and as a results the initial 1833 patients were reduced to 554 eligible patients.

The remaining 1360 patients in the B.C. Cancer Research Centre database lacked Cancer Agency ID numbers meaning although they may have sputum analysis they have not proceeded to bronchoscopy for a variety of reason and therefore have no ID number with the BCCA. Results returned from the link with the registry indicated that 24 patients had developed cancer since last contact with the Lung Health Study. Applying inclusion and exclusion criteria to these 24 patients allowed those eligible to be further reduced to 5 and detailed chart reviews found no further reason to exclude any of the 5 patients. Non lung caner patients were also screened with inclusion/exclusion criteria and the original 1360 in this group was reduced to 1331 eligible patients. Combining these results with the first linkage, a total of 36 (31 + 5) patients were found to have lung cancer among 1885 (554 + 1331) eligible study patients.

Next, the 1885 patients in the database that were eligible for inclusion in the study were separated into the following sub-groups for statistical purposes:

- A. All Eligible Patients
- B. All Eligible Patients with at Least 1 Bronchoscopy
- C. Lung Cancer Patients
- D. Lung Cancer Patients with at Least 1 Bronchoscopy
- E. Lung Cancer Patients with No Bronchoscopy

Statistical characteristics for each of the above 5 sub-groups is presented in Tables 5.1 through 5.5. Calculated data includes the mean, standard deviation, median, minimum and maximum values relating to age, sex, smoking history, and duration of follow-up (i.e. how long patients have been followed from the time they entered the database to December 31, 2002). In addition, forced expiratory volumes (FEV1 and FEV1%) are included to summarize information on patient's lung volume capacity, a factor believed to decrease as a result of smoking. In situations when data was not available for all members of a subgroup, a note was made and the denominator adjusted accordingly.

Comparing the statistics presented in Table's 5.1 and 5.3, the mean age of the screened cohort was 58 while the mean age of lung cancer patients in the screened detected cohort increased to 62. This trend was also seen in pack year data with the mean being 50 pack years for the entire cohort, then increasing to 60 pack years for those 36 patients with lung cancer. Of the 509 patients in the entire cohort who were former smokers, 2.2% developed lung cancer. In comparison, 1.8% (25/1369) of current smokers developed lung cancer. FEV1 % predicted results decreased in lung cancer patients compared to the 1885 cohort with values of 71% and 84% respectively. Figure 5.1 outlines the clinical course taken by the 1885 patients as a result

Total N = 1885	Male	Female			
SEX	987 (52.4%)	898 (47.6%)			÷
	<u>.</u>				
	Current	Former			
SMOKING HISTORY	1369 (72.9%)	509 (27.1%)	· · · ·		
		· · · ·			
	Normal	Atypia*			
SPUTUM	674 (38.3%)	1087 (61.7%)			
·					
	Mean	Stand. Dev.	Median	Min	Max
AGE	57.94	7.70	57.02	45.00	80.07
PACK YEARS	49.84	19.05	45.26	20.00	196.00
Duration of F/U (Yrs)	3.16	1.71	2.61	0.61	12.43
FEV1**	2.73	0.91			
FEV1 % predicted**	84.11	33.2		-	

Table 5.1 All Eligible Patients, Age 45+ and 20+ Pack Years with Sputum Analysis

* Atypia defined as: >=5 cells with DNA score >=1.2

** Note - only 1781 of the 1885 (94.4%) patients have FEV1 results.

Total N = 1003	Male	Female		· ·	
SEX	534 (53.2%)	469 (46.8%)	· . ·		
		· ·	•		
· · · ·	Current	Former	· · · ·		
SMOKING HISTORY	728 (72.6%)	275 (27.4%)		•	
					•
	Normal**	Atypia*	· · ·		
SPUTUM	283 (29.9%)	720 (70.1%)			
			•		
	Mean	Stand. Dev.	Median	Min	Max
AGE	58.04	7.68	57.14	45.02	80.07
PACK YEARS	50.81	19.80	45.38	20.00	176.40
Duration of F/U (Yrs)	3.42	1.67	2.73	0.61	12.43
FEV1 [§]	2.68	0.91			
FEV1 % predicted [§]	82.31	41.91			

Table 5.2 All Eligible Patients, Age 45+ and 20+ Pack Years with at Least 1 Bronchoscopy

* Atypia defined as: >=5 cells with DNA score >=1.2

** Large proportion of these patients developed ATYPIA after NORMAL baseline sputum

[§] Note – only 870 of the 1003 (86.7%) patients have FEV1 results.

Total N = 36	Male	Female			
SEX	19 (52.8%)	17 (47.2%)			
· · · ·				1	
	Current	Former			÷.,
SMOKING HISTORY	25 (69.4%)	11 (30.6%)			
	Normal	Atypia*			
SPUTUM	5 (13.9%)	31 (86.1%)			
	•		• •		
	Mean	Stand. Dev.	Median	Min	Max
AGE	61.70	8.25	61.95	45.00	78.35
PACK YEARS	59.66	30.58	49.65	31.00	172.00
Duration of F/U (Yrs)	3.93	2.85	3.57	0.63	13.99
FEV1	2.15	0.83			
FEV1 % predicted	70.91	25.07			

Table 5.3 Lung Cancer Patients, Age 45+ and 20+ Pack Years

* Atypia defined as: >=5 cells with DNA score >=1.2

Table 5.4 Lung Cancer Patients, Age 45+ and 20+ Pack Years with at least 1 Bronchoscopy

Total $N = 31$	Male	Female			
SEX	17 (54.8%)	14 (45.2%)			
	Current	Former			
SMOKING HISTORY	19 (61.3%)	12 (38.7%)	×		
	Normal	Atypia*	· .		
SPUTUM	3 (9.7%)	28 (90.3%)			
	•				
	Mean	Stand. Dev.	Median	Min	Max
AGE	61.97	8.35	62.31	45.00	78.35
PACK YEARS	43.80	32.69	48.1	31.00	172.00
Duration of F/U (Yrs)	3.84	3.04	2.41	0.63	13.99
FEV1	2.19	0.82			
FEV1 % predicted	71.52	24.70			

* Atypia defined as: >=5 cells with DNA score >=1.2

Total $N = 5*$	Male	Female			
SEX	2 (40%)	3 (60%)			
	. ·				
· · ·	Current	Former			
SMOKING HISTORY	5 (100%)	0			
-		· · ·			
	Normal	Atypia*			
SPUTUM	2 (40%)	3 (60%)			
·					
	Mean	Stand. Dev.	Median	Min	Max
AGE	60.01	7.41	58.33	49.61	72.49
PACK YEARS	52.69	7.12	51.2	46.00	66.00
Duration of F/U (Yrs)	4.51	1.08	4.27	3.34	6.14
FEV1	2.02	0.86			
FEV1 % predicted	66.20	24.35			i

Table 5.5 Lung Cancer Patients, Age 45+ and 20+ Pack Years with No Bronchoscopy

*All 5 of these patients found to have lung cancer on follow-up through the registry.



Figure 5.1 Breakdown of Lung Health Study patients by sputum diagnosis and number of bronchoscopies, N=1885 including 36 lung cancer patients of sputum analysis and bronchoscopy procedures. There were 17 incident cancers detected through baseline bronchoscopy, serial bronchoscopies or sputum only. There were 19 prevalent cancers detected upon initial screening. Only 2 patients with normal sputum analysis developed lung cancer and were identified through the registry link.

Additional information was reported on the 36 patients found to have lung cancer. The mode of diagnosis, cell type and stage distribution further characterize the lung cancer patients (Table 5.6, 5.7 and 5.8) and highlight the result that 12 patients were positively identified as having develop lung cancer through the provincial registry linkage. A large proportion of lung cancer patients were diagnosed with either adenocarcinoma (44%) or squamous cell carcinoma (36%), both NSCLC. From the stage distribution at diagnosis (Table 5.8), a significant portion of lung cancers were found in Stage 0 or Stage I, for which the likelihood of survival increases. Using these results, the prevalence rate for lung cancer in this high risk cohort was determined to be 1.9%.

5.4 Discussion

A significant number of patients in the B.C. Cancer Research Centre database had to be excluded for one or more of the reason stated earlier in the exclusion criteria. Many patients were either referred to the BCCA, were consult patients or were having follow-up diagnostic testing. In all of these situations patients presented with symptoms and therefore had to be excluded as a screening programme aims to detect cancer cases with no clinical symptoms. The linkages done with the provincial registry allowed 12 patients with lung cancer to be identified whose diagnosis would not have otherwise been known to our study group.

Mode of Diagnosis	Number of Cases
Prevalence Screen Case	19 (53%)
Incident Follow-up Case	17 (47%)
Serial Bronchoscopies	5
BC Cancer Registry	12
Previous Negative Bronchoscopy	8
Previous Negative Sputum	4

Table 5.6 Mode of Diagnosis for 36 Lung Cancer Patients

Table 5.7 Cell Type Distribution for 36 Lung Cancer Patients

Cell Type*	Number of Cases		
Squamous Cell (NSCLC)	13 (36%)		
Adenocarcinoma (NSCLC)	16 (44%)		
Poorly differentiated NSCLC	2 (6%)		
Small Cell Lung Cancer (SCLC)	5 (14%)		

*According to patient pathology reports.

,

Cell Type	Prevalence Screen	Follow-up	Overall
NSCLC			
Stage 0	22%	31%	26%
Stage I	45%	8%	29%
Stage II	11%	0	6%
Stage III	22%	38%	29%
Stage IV	0	23%	10%
SCLC			
Limited disease	1	0	1
Extensive disease	0	4	4

Table 5.8 Stage Distribution for 36 Lung Cancer Patients
Eligibility criteria for this analysis required that patients be 45 years or older with a smoking history of 20 or more pack years. Although researchers in this field agree that a lung cancer screening programme needs to target high risk individuals in order to be effective both from a clinical and economic viewpoint, there is no standard set of criteria for defining such a high risk cohort. Other lung cancer screening studies have involved participants between the ages of 40-70 yrs, (Henschke et al., 1999), 60-75 yrs (Swensen et al., 2002) and 60-74 yrs (Marshall et al., 2001). Pack years is not always used to determine smoking history and some published studies only state that current and former heavy smokers were invited for screening (Swensen, 2002; Sone, 2001; Sobue, 2002). In studies where pack years are calculated values range from minimums of between 20 and 40, with a mean value of 44 pack years (Henschke, 1999). The conservative criteria of 45+ years-old and 20+ pack years could be narrowed further to target a higher risk group since the mean age and pack year history of lung cancer patients was found to be 62 and 60 respectively. Increasing the screening age from 45 to 55 would result in 7 of the 36 lung cancer cases being missed but the detection rate would increase from 1.9% to 2.1%. These clinical results from ASC screening will be used in the economic model in Chapter 6.

Without a doubt the major goal of a lung cancer screening programme is to detect early stage disease when there is improved likelihood of survival. The stage distribution results presented above indicate that 8 of the 36 cancers were detected in Stage 0 and 11 cancers were found at Stage I meaning just over 50% of cases were diagnosed in the early part of disease progression when curative surgery is available. The cell type results are consistent with current data in other lung cancer populations and reflect the increase in the proportion of cancers classified as adenocarcinomas (Than et al., 1997), especially among female smokers. Since adenocarcinoma is a peripheral disease in the lung, there is a common belief that it does not exfoliate cells that remain intact in sputum, rendering sputum analysis of little utility. The proposed method of sputum cytometry analysis however has shown it is effective in detecting

adenocarcinomas in a field study by Palcic et al. (2002) and the results presented here support this.

This analysis is not without limitations. This was a retrospective analysis to some degree and it was therefore impossible to ensure the completeness of data for all 1885 eligible patients. In some instances, pack year information was missing, sputum results were not recorded or past medical histories may not be complete. Patients with missing data were removed from the denominator when calculating sub-group characteristics. A small proportion of sputum analysis was carried out on specimens collected through the 3-day pool method and not the standard vest method used at the BCCA.

The provincial cancer registry provides the most complete source of information on cancer cases in the province of B.C. but it is not without its own limits. Certainly not all lung cancers are accounted for in this registry. Those patients who do not seek treatment may be missed as well as those whose primary cause of death is not lung cancer itself. This lung cancer screening programme is offered through the BCCA in the city of Vancouver, a major metropolitan hub for the province. It is known that smoking prevalence is slightly higher in the interior/rural regions of British Columbia and therefore a higher prevalence of lung cancer may be reported in these areas. Fifty-five percent of those living in the Vancouver/Richmond health region claim to never have smoked, while the number drops to as low as 39% in the Coast Garibaldi health region (Vancouver Coastal Health Authority, 2002). Smokers living in rural areas of the province may be less likely to travel farther distances for lung cancer screening and this highlights the need to ensure a population based screening programme is accessible to those that would benefit most from it. The BCCA clinical trial is ongoing and as more data is collected, clearer assumptions regarding the efficacy of ASC will be supported.

Chapter 6. Economic Decision Analysis Model for the Evaluation of Lung Cancer Screening with Automated Sputum Cytometry

6.1 Introduction

This model is designed to evaluate the cost-utility of using sputum cytometry as a first step screening test in detecting preclinical lung cancer. A societal perspective is adopted for the analysis to support this screening programme being adopted on a large scale population basis in the future. In Canada, a national, government funded health care system is in place. Costs are measured in dollars and reported in 2003 Canadian dollars and benefits are measured in quality adjusted life years.

A full economic evaluation involves the comparison of one or more alternatives to the proposed intervention. Although there is no current mandated lung cancer screening programme anywhere in the world, current clinical practice dictates the use of helical CT scans and bronchoscopy in the detection of cancerous lesions in the lung. Bronchoscopy involves a definitive pathology report on the presence or absence of malignancy. In this model there are three mutually exclusive screening alternatives in the decisions tree. To demonstrate a stage shift (i.e. a greater proportion of patients diagnosed with preclinical lung cancer) as a results of screening, one arm of the study demonstrates disease progression when no screening is implemented. The three decision pathways are summarized below. Diagnostic follow-up implies further CT scans, bronchoscopy, or other definitive clinical diagnostic procedures.

- 1. Sputum cytometry \rightarrow CT scan \rightarrow Diagnostic follow-up \rightarrow Lung cancer
- 2. CT scan \rightarrow Diagnostic follow-up \rightarrow Lung cancer
 - 3. No screening \rightarrow Lung cancer

A simplified depiction of the decision analysis tree is shown in Figure 6.1 which condenses the many diagnostic follow-up procedures in each of the screening arms. The detailed clinical



pathways and health states that persons would traverse having received screening are shown for reference only in Figure 6.2 and 6.3. Once an individual is diagnosed with lung cancer, the patient cycles through the various stages of disease by means of a markov model (see Section 6.2). Through sensitivity analyses, model parameters that are influential in determining the cost-utility of screening will be identified.

The research aim was to gain insight into the important factors influencing screening efficacy and economic effectiveness while testing the hypothesis that using sputum cytometry as an initial screening test would be cost-effective compared to no screening and screening with CT scans. Since CT screening is unable to detect preclinical lung cancer, the potential benefits (QALYs) are expected to improve with sputum cytometry compared to CT screening. The higher false positive rate from CT screening is expected to contribute significantly to diagnostic follow-up costs in this arm of the model, while screening with sputum alongside CT scans is hypothesized to reduce over-all costs.

6.2 Data Sources and Model Design

Every effort has been made to use scientifically published, peer-reviewed data upon which to base any quantitative assumptions in this decision analysis. Clear rational for model assumptions is provided in situations where published data was limited. A number of sources have been used to generate costs, probabilities and assumptions for this cost-utility model. Whenever possible, all costing data (both for screening tests and for management of lung cancer) was taken from Canadian studies and reported in Canadian dollars inflated to 2002 values using the Consumer Price Index (CPI) for Health Care from the Bank of Canada (base period 1992 = 100).







Figure 6.3 Detailed clinical screening pathway for the CT screening arm.

The Health Analysis and Modeling Group at Statistics Canada (Ottawa), provided much of the data on the cost of managing lung cancer in Canada as well as the distribution of disease in the population. The cost of sputum cytometry was obtained from Perceptronix Medical Inc. (PMI), a local research and development company in Vancouver currently conducting a clinical trial on the clinical effectiveness of sputum cytometry. Only direct medical costs were considered in the model as it was assumed that all facilities and equipment were previously established for such a screening programme. All costs were discounted at 3% per year with sensitivity analyses conducted using 0% and 5% discount rates.

The parameters required for evaluating a screening programme include characteristics of the disease (prevalence, incidence, mortality rates, and quality of life) and characteristics of the screening test (sensitivity, specificity, positive/negative predictive values). In instances where Canadian data on lung cancer survival and mortality was incomplete, the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) national cancer database in the United States was used to supplement statistical probabilities.

The hypothetical cohort consisted of 100,000 current or former smokers with a minimum 20 pack year smoking history (see Appendix A for calculation of pack years), who were between 45 and 74 years old. Five year annual screening was modeled. Costs associated with diagnosis and treatment were determined for a 10 year follow-up period beginning at the time of initial screening. After 10 years, lung cancer patients were considered cured and entered remission for the remainder of their lifetime, although yearly surveillance costs were still incurred in this group of patients. The 5-year survival rate for patients diagnosed with lung cancer is 14% for males and 17% for females (Health Canada, 2002) and in this respect those few patients that do survive for 10 years would be considered cured. It is necessary to follow the cohort for an extended period of time to capture any changes in QALYs that might occur years after screening. Costs and QALYs were therefore calculated over a 50 year follow-up period at which time 99% of the

cohort died. Those participants in the non-screened group faced yearly transition probabilities of staying alive without apparent lung cancer, developing and dying from lung cancer, or dying from other causes. Survivorship with lung cancer was considered to be the same for those in the screened and non-screened group and was modeled using data from SEER.

Participants in the screening arm of the model were also subject to lung cancer transition probabilities but faced a different clinical stage distribution as a result of the disease being diagnosed through screening. Often referred to as a downward stage shift, many of the cancers detected by screening are presumed to be in the preclinical or local stage rather than at a more advanced stage hence the greater chance of survival in screen detected cases of lung cancer. For example, if the stage distribution for the non-screened group is 80% advanced and 20% localized, then a 50% stage shift would result in a 40% advanced and 60% localized stage distribution for the screened group. A recently published study by Mahadevia et al. (2003) assumed a 50% downward stage shift in their model for CT screening. Preliminary data from CT screening research at the BCCA indicates a stage shift of 59% (unpublished data, McWilliams). Table 6.1 shows the initial stage distribution for each of the 3 pathways in the model. CT screening can only detect radiological tumours as early as Stage I while sputum can cytometry can detect cellular changes at Stage 0.

Approximately 85% of lung cancers are NSCLC with the remaining 15% classified as SCLC (Reis, 2000). To keep the complexity of the model with manageable limits, disease characteristics are based on probabilities for those with NSCLC only. The staging of NSCLC has also changed over the past 40 years. In this analysis, SEER lung cancer survival data for the first 10 years only is derived from the American Joint Committee on Cancer Staging system (which classifies lung cancers into Stage 0 through Stage IV). For the remaining years (\geq 11) survival data is based on historic SEER summary Stage 1977 database which classifies cancers into early,

-	With	nout Screen	ning	Helic	al CT Scre	ening	Sputum	Screening	(LHS)
Disease	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total
stage	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
		· · ·			·		· · ·		
Stage 0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	31.8	7.1	22.2
Stage I	18.7	23.5	20.6	82.4	88.2	85.3	40.9	50.0	44.4
Stage II	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.3	3.0	3.7	13.6	7.1	11.1
Stage III	31.0	26.5	29.2	13.3	8.8	11.1	13.6	35.7	22.2
Stage IV	46.2	45.9	46.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
		•			A				

Table 6.1 Distribution of Tumours Detected in a Hypothetical Cohort According to the3 Screening Alternatives

localized, regional and distant stages. This dual system was needed to account for the lack of longitudinal survival data in each staging system. Quality of life was incorporated into the model outcomes using QALYs for the various health states. QALYs combine both life expectancy and quality of life into one measure and are considered necessary for any cost-utility analysis where patients may have a change in quality of life as a result of an intervention. Utility weights were obtained from the literature as reported by Earle et al. (2000) and by Trippoli et al. (2001) who also found a difference in the quality of life among those patients with screen detected lung cancer as opposed to those with no screening. To incorporate these proxy values in this analysis it was assumed that Stage 0 and I disease were local, Stage II and III regional and Stage IV distant. Table 6.2 shows utility weights used to determine effectiveness outcomes. QALYs were discounted at 3% per year.

A base-case analysis was performed using estimates considered to be most accurate for each parameter in the model. The cycle length of the model was one year meaning that one cycle through the model is equivalent to one year of life for each patient. Incremental cost-utility ratios (ICER) are calculated by comparing the difference in cost and effects for each of the 3 mutually exclusive options. Screening options are ranked in order of ascending costs. To test the robustness of the results, sensitivity analyses were carried out to evaluate the impact on cost-effectiveness of using more extreme estimates for each parameter. The effect of varying the baseline cancer risk, the performance of the diagnostic test, the cost of the test, and the degree of stage shift were varied on an individual basis (one-way sensitivity analysis) and in combination with other variables (multi-way analysis). Table 6.3 shows annual probabilities and costs used in the base case analysis as well as those values used in sensitivity analyses. Where multiple sources were cited for quantitative assumptions, weighted averages were calculated. The model itself was constructed using Decision Analysis by TreeAge[™] (DATA) Software, Data Pro 4.0, Healthcare Edition.

	Base Case Analysis	Favours Screening	Against Screening	Reference
Stage 0 and I No Screening Arm	0.73	0.69	0.83	Earle
Stage 0 and I Screening Arms	0.83	0.88	0.69	Trippoli
Stage II and III	0.71	0.66	0.81	Earle
Stage IV	0.66	0.30	0.76	Earle

Table 6.2 Utility Values for Those Patients Living with Lung Cancer

While most decision trees include a simple notion of time (i.e., events to the right of the tree occur after those to the left), there are no shortcuts in a standard tree structure representing events that recur over time. A state transition model, based on a markov model, was designed to efficiently represent recursive events. A markov model describes the movement of members of a population through a set of states. Transition probabilities represent the likelihood that any individual in a certain state will move into a different state. Such a model was used in this decision tree to simulate the movement of patients through various stages of lung cancer, into remission and onto the final death stage. It was essential to implement a semi-markov process in this model since a patient's probability of moving to the next clinical phase of lung cancer changes with increasing age. SEER historical transition probabilities were only available for a period of up to 30 years post lung cancer diagnosis. Since this cohort of patients was followed for 50 years the remaining transition probabilities were estimated by DATA[™] using interpolation. This method will return a transition probability value which is calculated by linear interpolation between successive table indexes. Figure 6.4 depicts the first 10 years of the markov model for those patients who develop lung cancer. Surviving lung cancer patients move into the second portion (or remission stage) of the markov model (shown in Figure 6.5) beginning in year 11 and remain there until they die. In actuality DATA combines these two markov trees for analyses but they are depicted separately here for clearer illustration. Table 6.4 shows the transition probabilities for Stage 0 through Stage IV for the initial 10 years. Table 6.5 shows the survival probabilities for years 11 onward for early through distant stage lung cancers. The likelihood of death from lung cancer in each stage is the same for both screened and nonscreened patients who develop disease but the initial stage distribution of lung cancer is different, as discussed above. For those patients who do not receive screening the transition probabilities from alive and healthy to dead (as a person ages) are taken from Statistics Canada Life Tables (Table 6.6).

Base Case AnalysisFavours ScreeLung cancer probabilitiesDrevalence at initial screeningPrevalence at initial screeningPrevalence at initial screeningProportion of screened NSCLC that are local stage, $\%$ 60 Proportion of screened NSCLC that are local stage, $\%$ 67 82 Proportion of screened NSCLC that are local stage, $\%$ 67 82 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 </th <th></th> <th></th> <th>D</th> <th>D</th> <th></th>			D	D	
Lung cancer probabilities 0.019 0.031 Prevalence at initial screening 0.019 0.03 Proportion of non-screening 0.028 0.028 Proportion of non-screening to screening, local stage, $N_{\rm eff}$ 67 82 Proportion of screening to screening, local stage, $N_{\rm eff}$ 60 75 Stage Shift from no screening to screening, local stage, $N_{\rm eff}$ 60 75 Including at the NSCLC 10 82 Stage Shift from no screening to screening, local stage, $N_{\rm eff}$ 60 75 Stage Shift from no screening to screening, local stage, $N_{\rm eff}$ 60 75 Incalled stage NSCLC 10 8 8 Advanced stage NSCLC 63 63 63 Spatum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.45 0.93 63 Spatum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.81 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Specificity 0.90 0.95 0.93 Spatum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.90 0.95 0.93 Helical CT Scan Specificity 0.90 0.95 0.90		Base Case Analysis	Favours Screening	Against Screening	Reference
Prevalence at initial screening 0.019 0.031 Incidence in subsequent screenings 0.028 0.028 Proportion of non-screen NSCLC that are local stage, % 60 75 Proportion of screening to screening, local stage, % 60 75 Mortality, %** 0.028 0.028 Mortality, %** 60 75 Mortality, %** 10 82 Mortality, %** 60 75 Mortality, %** 60 75 Mortality, %** 10 82 Mortality, %** 60 75 Mortality, %** 10 87 Mortality, %** 10 93 Stage Shift from no screening to screening, local stage, % 60 75 Advance stage NSCLC 49 93 State at stage NSCLC 93 93 Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.93 91 Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.93 93 Helical CT Scan spcsificity 0.93 03 Stastastastage NSCLC 0.83 <t< td=""><td>ung cancer probabilities</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	ung cancer probabilities				
Incidence in subsequent screenings 0.028 0.028 0.028 Proportion of non-screen NSCLC that are local stage, $\%$ 0 15 Proportion of non-screen NSCLC that are local stage, $\%$ 0 75 Nordality, $\%^{**}$ 0.028 75 Mortality, $\%^{**}$ 0.028 75 Nordality, $\%^{**}$ 0.028 75 Localized stage NSCLC 10 5 Localized stage NSCLC 63 63 Distant stage NSCLC 63 63 Screening Test Performance 63 63 Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 False Positive 0.93 0.93 Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 False Positive CT Scan Sensitivity 0.93 <	Prevalence at initial screening	0.019	0.031	0.012	LHS
Proportion of non-screen NSCLC that are local stage, % 20 15 Proportion of screened NSCLC that are local stage, % 67 82 Stage Singe NSCLC 10 5 Morality, %** 10 5 Morality, %** 60 75 Morality, %** 60 75 Morality, %** 10 5 Morality, %** 63 63 Distant stage NSCLC 49 49 Distant stage NSCLC 63 63 Screening Test Performance 63 63 Spattum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.45 0.80 Spattum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 False Positive CT Scan rate 0.19 0.19 Costs, 2002 CDNS State Positive CT Scan rate 0.19 State Distribution Cytometry 0.19 0.19 State Positive CT Scan rate 0.19 0.19 Costs, 2002 CDNS State CT Sc	Incidence in subsequent screenings	0.028	0.028	0.028	Mahadevia
Proportion of screened NSCLC that are local stage, % 67 82 Stage Shift from no screening to screening, local stage, % 60 75 Montality, %** Ionality, %** 10 5 Stage Shift from no screening to screening, local stage, % 60 75 Moralizy, %** 10 5 49 9 Advanced stage NSCLC 63 63 63 63 Advanced stage NSCLC 63 63 63 63 Screening Test Performance 63 63 63 63 Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.93 903 903 903 903 Helical CT Scan Specificity 0.93 0.93 902 903 903 Helical CT Scan Specificity 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Specificity 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Specificity 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 Costs, 2002 CDNS 0.93 <td>Proportion of non-screen NSCLC that are local stage, %</td> <td>20</td> <td>15</td> <td>· 17 ·</td> <td>Maha/Marsh</td>	Proportion of non-screen NSCLC that are local stage, %	20	15	· 17 ·	Maha/Marsh
Stage Shift from no screening to screening, local stage, $%$ 60 75 Mortality, $\sqrt{6}$ ** 10 5 Mortality, $\sqrt{6}$ 10 63 Advanced stage NSCLC 49 49 Distant stage NSCLC 63 63 Screening Test Performance 63 63 Sputum Cytometry Specificity 0.90 0.90 Sputum Cytometry Specificity 0.91 0.91 Sputum Cytometry 0.91 0.91 0.91 False Positive CT Scan state 0.19 0.19 0.19 Costs, 2002 CDNS Sputum Cytometry 0.75 0.75 False Positive CT Scan rate 0.19 0.75 0.75 Costs, 2002 CDNS Sputum Cytometry 0.75 0.75 State CT Scan rate 0.75 0.75 0.75 Option Cytometry Specificity 0.75 0.75 <td>Proportion of screened NSCLC that are local stage, %</td> <td>67</td> <td>82</td> <td>65</td> <td>Swensen</td>	Proportion of screened NSCLC that are local stage, %	67	82	65	Swensen
Mortality, %** Incalitient stage NSCLC 10 5 Localized stage NSCLC 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 63	Stage Shift from no screening to screening, local stage, %	09	75	30	LHS
Localized stage NSCLC 10 5 Advanced stage NSCLC 49 49 49 Distant stage NSCLC 63	Mortality, %**				
Advanced stage NSCLC 49 9 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 53 63 63 63 63 63 63 63 63 63 63 63 63 63 63 63 63 55 bistant stage NSCLC 63 63 55 63 55 63 563 563 563 503	Localized stage NSCLC	10	5	10	SEER
Distant stage NSCLC 63 63 Screening Test Performance 63 63 Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.45 0.80 Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.90 0.90 0.90 Sputum Cytometry Specificity 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 Sputum Cytometry Specificity 0.90 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Sensitivity 0.90 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Specificity 0.91 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 Talse Positive CT Scan Sensitivity 0.91 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 Screening Screening 1.00 74 0.19 0.19 Screening Helical CT scan 3.50 2.64 66 66 Screening Follow-up CT scan 3.60 749 749 749 Screening Follow-up CT scan 3.130 2.470 56 2.470 Sta	Advanced stage NSCLC	49	49	49	SEER
Screening Test Performance 0.45 0.80 Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.90 0.90 0.95 Sputum Cytometry Specificity 0.91 0.93 0.93 0.93 Sputum Cytometry Specificity 0.91 0.93 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Sensitivity 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 False Positive CT Scan Specificity 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 False Positive CT Scan specificity 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 Screening Screening 0.19 0.19 0.19 0.19 Screening Screening 100 75 100 0.19 0.19 Screening Screening 100 74 749 749 749 Screening Fine needle aspirate biopsy 100 749 749 740 Fine needle aspirate biopsy Fine needle aspirate biopsy 749 749 740 Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 2,470 56,733	Distant stage NSCLC	63	63	63	SEER
Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity 0.45 0.80 0.90 0.90 0.95 0.93 0.91 0.01 </td <td>creening Test Performance</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	creening Test Performance				
Sputum Cytometry Specificity 0.90 0.95 Helical CT Scan Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Specificity 0.81 0.81 0.81 False Positive CT Scan rate 0.19 0.19 0.19 Costs, 2002 CDNS 0.19 0.19 0.19 Screening 0.10 0.10 0.75 Helical CT scan 0.00 100 75 Streening 100 75 140 749 Screening 749 749 749 749 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 1000 760 1600 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 749 749 749 Cancer Care Stage 0, NSCLC, first year $3,130$ $2,470$ Stage 1, NSCLC, first year $3,130$ $2,470$ $20,738$ $16,242$ Stage 1, NSCLC, first year $2,010$ $1,500$ $10,500$ $10,500$ <tr< td=""><td>Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity</td><td>0.45</td><td>0.80</td><td>0.40</td><td>PMI</td></tr<>	Sputum Cytometry Sensitivity	0.45	0.80	0.40	PMI
Helical CT Scan Sensitivity 0.93 0.93 Helical CT Scan Specificity 0.81 0.81 False Positive CT Scan rate 0.19 0.81 False Positive CT Scan specificity 0.19 0.81 False Positive CT Scan rate 0.19 0.81 Costs, 2002 CDNS 0.19 0.19 0.19 Costs, 2002 CDNS 0.100 0.100 75 Screening 0.000 0.000 76 Screening 0.000 1000 76 Screening 0.000 1000 76 Screening 0.0000 1000 76 Screening 0.000000 10000 76 Screening 0.000000000 $1000000000000000000000000000000000000$	Sputum Cytometry Specificity	0.90	0.95	0.85	IMI
Helical CT Scan Specificity 0.81 0.81 False Positive CT Scan rate 0.19 0.19 Costs, 2002 CDNS 0.19 0.19 Costs, 2002 CDNS 0.19 0.19 Screening 0.10 75 Screening 100 75 Streening 100 75 Spreader exponentry 100 75 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 100 76 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 749 769 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 749 749 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 749 760 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 760 760 Stage 0, NSCLC, first year $20,738$ $16,242$ Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year $20,738$ $16,242$ Stage I, NSCLC, first year $26,435$ $56,527$ Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year $1,500$ $1,000$ <t< td=""><td>Helical CT Scan Sensitivity</td><td>0.93</td><td>0.93</td><td>0.85</td><td>Marshall</td></t<>	Helical CT Scan Sensitivity	0.93	0.93	0.85	Marshall
False Positive CT Scan rate 0.19 0.19 Costs, 2002 CDNS 0.19 0.19 Costs, 2002 CDNS 100 75 Screening 100 75 Screening 200 150 Screening 200 150 Screening 200 75 Sputum Cytometry 100 75 Helical CT scan 350 250 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 460 460 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 749 749 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 749 749 Cancer Care 3,130 2,470 Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 2,470 Stage 1, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500 1,000 Stage I, NSCLC, first year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, first year 20,738 16,242 Stage I and III, NSCLC, first year 20,010 1,000 Stage I and III, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,413 26,435 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500 1,500 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500<	Helical CT Scan Specificity	0.81	0.81	0.49	Marshall
Costs, 2002 CDNS Screening 100 75 Sputtum Cytometry 100 75 Sputtum Cytometry 200 150 Sputtum Cytometry 200 150 Sputtum Cytometry 200 150 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 350 250 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 749 749 Fuorescence Bronchoscopy 749 749 Cancer Care 3,130 2,470 Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 2,470 Stage 1, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500 1,000 Stage 1, NSCLC, first year 20,738 16,242 Stage 1, NSCLC, first year 24,870 28,731 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,000 Stage I, NSCLC, first year 2,010 1,500 Stage II and III, NSCLC, first year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,760 1,500	False Positive CT Scan rate	0.19	0.19	0.51	ELCAP
Screening Sputum Cytometry 100 75 Helical CT scan 200 150 Follow-up CT scan 350 250 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 350 250 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 460 460 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 749 749 Fuorescence Bronchoscopy 749 749 Cancer Care 3,130 2,470 Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 2,470 Stage 1, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 Stage 1, NSCLC, first year 20,738 16,242 Stage 1, NSCLC, first year 20,738 16,500 Stage 1, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,500 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,6435 56,527 Stage I, NSCLC, first year 2,6435 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,6435 56,527	osts, 2002 CDN\$				
Sputum Cytometry 100 75 Helical CT scan 200 150 Follow-up CT scan 350 250 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 350 250 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 460 460 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 749 749 Fluorescence Bronchoscopy 749 749 Cancer Care 3,130 2,470 Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 2,470 Stage 1, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 1,500 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,000 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage II and III, NSCLC, first year 2,010 1,500 Stage II and III, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,560 1,500 </td <td>Screening</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Screening				
Helical CT scan 200 150 Follow-up CT scan 350 250 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 460 460 Fluorescence Bronchoscopy 749 749 Fluorescence Bronchoscopy 749 749 Cancer Care 3,130 2,470 Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 2,470 Stage 1, NSCLC, first year 1,500 1,000 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, first year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,4870 28,731 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500 1,000 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,4870 28,731 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,4370 28,731 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,6135 56,527 Stage IN, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,6135 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,500	Sputum Cytometry	100	75	150	PMI/BCCA
Follow-up CT scan 350 250 Fine needle aspirate biopsy 460 460 Fluorescence Bronchoscopy 749 749 Fluorescence Bronchoscopy 749 749 Cancer Care 3,130 2,470 Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 2,470 Stage 1, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500 1,000 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,000 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,4870 28,731 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,4370 28,731 Stage I and III, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,6135 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,6135 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200	Helical CT scan	200	150	300	Marsh/Maha
Fine needle aspirate biopsy 460 460 Fluorescence Bronchoscopy 749 749 Cancer Care 2 749 749 Cancer Care 3,130 2,470 2,470 Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 2,470 1,000 Stage 1, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500 1,000 1,000 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 26,323 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 26,323 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,000 1,500 Stage I and III, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,613 26,435 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, first year 26,435 56,527 26,435 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200 1,500 1,500	Follow-up CT scan	350	250	500	Marsh/Maha
Fluorescence Bronchoscopy 749 749 Cancer Care . . . Cancer Care Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 2,470 . . Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 2,470 Stage 1, NSCLC, first year 20,738 1,6,242 .<	Fine needle aspirate biopsy	460	460	460	BCMA
Cancer Care Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 2,470 Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 1,000 1,000 Stage 1, NSCLC, first year 20,738 16,242 Stage 1, NSCLC, first year 20,738 16,242 Stage 1, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 Stage 1, NSCLC, ongoing year 20,738 16,242 Stage 1, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,000 Stage II and III, NSCLC, first year 24,870 28,731 Stage II and III, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 26,435 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200	Fluorescence Bronchoscopy	749	749	749	BCMA
Stage 0, NSCLC, first year 3,130 2,470 Stage 0, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500 1,000 Stage I, NSCLC, first year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,4,870 28,731 Stage I and III, NSCLC, first year 24,870 28,731 Stage II and III, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, first year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, first year 26,435 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200 NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200	Cancer Care				
Stage 0, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500 1,000 Stage I, NSCLC, first year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500 1,000 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 24,870 28,731 Stage II and III, NSCLC, first year 2,010 1,500 Stage II and III, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, first year 2,6435 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200 NICCLC, ongoing year 1,650 1,500	Stage 0, NSCLC, first year	3,130	2,470	6,813	BCCA
Stage I, NSCLC, first year 20,738 16,242 Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500 1,000 Stage II and III, NSCLC, first year 24,870 28,731 Stage II and III, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage II and III, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 26,435 56,527 NtSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200	Stage 0, NSCLC, ongoing year	1,500	1,000	3,000	BCCA
Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,500 1,000 Stage II and III, NSCLC, first year 24,870 28,731 Stage II and III, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, first year 26,435 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200 NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200	Stage I, NSCLC, first year	20,738	16,242	35,000	Berthelot
Stage II and III, NSCLC, first year 24,870 28,731 Stage II and III, NSCLC, ongoing year 2,010 1,500 Stage IV, NSCLC, first year 26,527 56,527 Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200	Stage I, NSCLC, ongoing year	1,500	1,000	3,000	Berthelot
Stage II and III, NSCLC, ongoing year2,0101,500Stage IV, NSCLC, first year26,43556,527Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year1,7651,200NSCLC, tomical scare10,54010,540	Stage II and III, NSCLC, first year	24,870	28,731	51,247	Berthelot
Stage IV, NSCLC, first year26,43556,527Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year1,7651,200NECT C control form10,54010,54010,540	Stage II and III, NSCLC, ongoing year	2,010	1,500	4,000	Berthelot
Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year 1,765 1,200 MICCT C formula 1 and 1 a	Stage IV, NSCLC, first year	26,435	56,527	43,168	Berthelot
NTO/T 7 42mminul 10540 10 540 10 540	Stage IV, NSCLC, ongoing year	1,765	1,200	3,500	Berthelot
	NSCLC, terminal year	10,540	10,540	10,540	Berthelot

Table 6.3 Annual Probabilities and Costs Used in the Economic Model for Lung Cancer Screening

*Detailed transition probabilities listed elsewhere.



Figure 6.4 Markov model for lung cancer patients for first 10 years post diagnosis.



Figure 6.5 Markov model for lung cancer patients for years 11+ after diagnosis.

6.3 Results

The model was analyzed by rolling back the tree to determine the average cost and number of life years gained per patient. Costs were calculated over 5 years for screening and for the 45 year disease follow-up/surveillance period and are reported in 2002 Canadian dollars. Patients who developed lung cancer cycled through the markov model for a period of 10 years after which they were assumed cured and moved into a remission markov model.

For patients in the no screening arm there were 1,042 lung cancer deaths per 100,000 patients compared with 882 lung cancer deaths per 100,000 screened patients in the CT screening arm and 857 deaths per 100,000 patients in the sputum screening arm. This result indicates a relative mortality reduction of 15.3% with CT screening and 17.7% with sputum screening arm. Incremental costs consumed and the incremental effectiveness (QALYs) produced from the three mutually exclusive screening strategies are shown in Table 6.7. Comparing the incremental costs for each strategy, CT screening alone has a greater incremental cost compared to sputum screening (\$7,072 vs. \$1,088). Interpretation of these incremental costs leads to the conclusion that under these circumstances, CT screening is weakly dominated by sputum screening and should never be implemented as a lung cancer screening strategy. The CT screening option was removed from the analysis as a potential strategy and the ICER recalculated comparing sputum screening to no screening (Table 6.8).

In the base-case analysis the average lifetime cost per patient was \$13,061 in the sputum + CT screening arm compared to \$5,262 in the no screening arm. There was a net gain of 0.1420 QALYs in the sputum + CT arm and this resulted in an ICER of \$54,923/QALY. Table 6.9 provides a summary around the variance in results for each of the three screening strategies. The distribution of costs and effects (QALYs) for the sputum screening arm is shown in Figure 6.6 and 6.7. The bimodal distribution of costs is reflective of those patients that remain free from lung cancer compared to those who develop the disease.

	Stage 0 Stage I			Sta	ige II		
Cycle #	Die	Survive	Die	Survive		Die	Survive
0	0.2526	0.7474	0.2076	0.7924		0.2632	0.7368
1	0.2464	0.7536	0.1826	0.8174		0.2829	0.7171
2	0.1312	0.8688	0.1309	0.8691		0.2051	0.7949
3	0.1751	0.8249	0.097	0.903		0.1508	0.8492
4	0.0655	0.9345	0.08	0.92		0.125	0.875
5	0.0467	0.9533	0.0741	0.9259		0.1039	0.8961
6	0.0706	0.9294	0.0635	0.9365		0.087	0.913
7	0.0421	0.9579	0.0635	0.9365		0.0936	0.9064
8	0.0364	0.9636	0.0596	0.9404		0.094	0.906
9	0.0363	0.9637	0.0547	0.9453		0.0633	0.9367
10	0.0458	0.9542	0.0581	0.9419		0.0849	0.9151
		通常でもよ					
	Sta	ge III	Sta	ge IV			
Cycle #	Die	Survive	Die	Survive			
0	0.589	0.411	0.8172	0.1828			
1	0.5158	0.4842	0.6833	0.3167			
2	0.3404	0.6596	0.4667	0.5333			
3	0.22	0.78	0.2779	0.7221		17 47 <u>2</u> 30	
4	0.1567	0.8433	0.1973	0.8027	10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1		
5	0.1174	0.8826	0.1491	0.8509			
6	0.1164	0.8836	0.1556	0.8444			
7	0.1038	0.8962	0.1151	0.8849			
8	0.0939	0.9061	0.1058	0.8942			
9	0.0754	0.9246	0.0784	0.9216			
10	0.1125	0.8875	0.1477	0.8523			

 Table 6.4 Markov Transition Probabilities for Lung Cancer Patients for First 10 Years

 After Diagnosis

	Early Stage (Stage 0)			Localized St	age (Stage I)
Cycle #	Die	Survive		Die	Survive
11	1	0		0.9606	0.0394
12	0.7673	0.2327		0.9648	0.0352
13	1	. 0		0.9682	0.0318
14	1	. 0		0.9548	0.0452
15	0.6838	0.3162		0.9396	0.0604
16	1	0		0.9719	0.0281
17	. 1	0		0.9453	0.0547
18	1	0		0.957	0.043
19	0.8845	0.1155		0.9271	0.0729
20	0.7744	0.2256		0.9647	0.0353
21	n/a	n/a		. 0.98	0.02
22	n/a	n/a		0.942	0.058
23	n/a	n/a		0.94	0.06
24	n/a	n/a		0.9224	0.0776
25	n/a	n/a		0.9588	0.0412
26	n/a	n/a		0.9615	0.0385
27	n/a	n/a		0.9195	0.0805
	Regional Stage	(Stage II and III)		Distant Stag	e (Stage IV)
Cycle #	Die	Survive	A.(7%)	Die	Survive
11	0.9503	0.0497		0.9644	0.0356
12	0.9354	0.0646		0.8979	0.1021
13	0.9505	0.0495		0.9429	0.0571
14	0.9183	0.0817		0.9897	0.0103
15	0.9279	0.0721		0.9222	0.0778
16	0.9218	0.0782		0.8687	0.1313
17	0.9107	0.0893		1	0
18	0.975	0.025		0.9804	0.0196
19	0.9768	0.0232		0.8722	0.1278
20	0.9246	0.0754		1	0
21	0.0210		And the second second		
	0.9642	0.0358		0.9536	0.0464
22	0.9642	0.0358		0.9536 0.9278	0.0464
22	0.9642 0.8711 0.8419	0.0358 0.1289 0.1581		0.9536 0.9278 0.8813	0.0464 0.0722 0.1187
22 23 24	0.9642 0.8711 0.8419 0.9389	0.0358 0.1289 0.1581 0.0611		0.9536 0.9278 0.8813 n/a	0.0464 0.0722 0.1187 n/a
22 23 24 25	0.9642 0.8711 0.8419 0.9389 0.886	0.0358 0.1289 0.1581 0.0611 0.114		0.9536 0.9278 0.8813 n/a n/a	0.0464 0.0722 0.1187 n/a n/a

 Table 6.5 Transition Probabilities for Lung Cancer Patients in Remission for Years 11

 Onward

Age of healthy person	Probability of Surviving 1 additional year
50	0.99597
55	0.99372
60	0.99015
65	0.98390
70	0.97403
. 75	0.95832
80	0.93191
85	0.88574
90	0.81317
95	0.71725
100	0.59939

 Table 6.6 Survival Table for Patients Without Lung Cancer

*Statistics Canada, Life Table, 1997

	T)		
	1 UIAI Averade		Total Average	Incremental	Ĭncremental
	I ifatime	Incremental	Out Average	Onality Adiveted I ifa	Cost_I Itility, Ratio
	Costs \$	Costs \$	Life Exnectancy, v	Exnectancy v	CUSE-CUILIES INALLO
	+ (2222)	+ (
No screening	\$5,262		28.8876		
				• -	•
CT screening alone	\$12,334	\$7,072	29.0082	0.1206	\$58,640 (dominated)
Sputum + CT	\$13,061	\$1,088	29.0296	0.0214	\$50,875
screening		•			
•		-		-	
*Costs and QALYs discounte	ed at 3%				
				•	•
• • •	•	· ·	•		
•			•		
Table 6.8 Base-case Re-	sults Compari	ng 2 Screening	Strategies, 2002 CDN	;*	
	Total		•		
	Average	·	Total Average	Incremental	Incremental
	Lifetime	Incremental	Quality Adjusted	Quality Adjusted Life	Cost-Utility Ratio
	Costs ⁺ , \$	Costs, \$	Life Expectancy, y	Expectancy, y	-
		-			· ·
No screening	\$5,262	1	28.8876	1	
Sputum + CT screening	\$13,061	\$7,799	29.0296	0.1420	\$54,923
0					

* CT Screening removed as a result of being a dominated strategy ⁺Costs and QALYs discounted at 3%

)	Ň			
	No S(creening	CT Sc	reening	Sputum + C	T Screening
Statistical Summary	Cost	QALYs	Cost	QALYs	Cost	QALYs
						-
Mean	5,262	28.8876	ž 12,334	29.0082	13,061	29.0296
SD	5,036	10.99	7,661	9.652	8,985	10.773
					-	
Minimum	200	1.4560	1,525	1.6994	1,229	1.8005
Median	3,911	22.6793	8,269	21.9979	9,549	22.619
Maximum	50,877	45.899	57,020	46.9783	56,364	48.093

Table 6.9 Summary Statistics for the 3 Screening Strategies, 2002 CDN\$

6.3.1 Sensitivity Analyses

One way sensitivity analysis was performed by varying individual parameters in the model and observing the changes in cost-utility ratios. In each of the following sensitivity analyses, the ICER is determined by comparing results between sputum + CT screening and no screening. An increase in the sensitivity of sputum cytometry screening and the prevalence of lung cancer in the high risk cohort had the greatest effect on model predictions. With a test sensitivity of 0.9 the ICER dropped to \$35,530/QALY. More conservatively, increasing the sensitivity to 0.7 resulted in a ICER of \$41,884/QALY (Figure 6.8). If the prevalence of lung cancer in the screened population dropped to 0.8% from 1.9%, the ICER raises dramatically to \$100,845/QALY while an increase in disease prevalence to 3% resulted in an ICER of \$44,659/QALY (Figure 6.9).

The cost of the sputum test and the degree of stage shift had less impact on costeffectiveness. Reducing the cost of the test from \$100 to \$50 improved the ICER by approximately \$12,800 from the baseline result (Figure 6.10). Cutting the stage shift in half, from 60% to 30%, resulted in a significant change in the ICER to \$76,718/QALY. Improving the stage shift to 70% had less of an effect on the outcome of ICER of \$41,716/QALY (Figure 6.11).

Lastly, sensitivity analysis was performed using discounts rates of 0% (no discounting) and 5%. Failure to discount future health related benefits will tend to show more favourable costutility ratios compared with discounting. The cost per QALY was affected by the discount rate, however the overall conclusions of the study were not. Applying 0% and 5% discount rates to the 3 screening strategies continued to demonstrate that CT screening is dominated. Cost-utility ratios ranged from \$43,806/QALY at a 0% discount rate, to \$61,120/QALY with a 5% discount rate.

The decision tree software used to construct and analyze this economic model allows for both one and two way sensitivity analysis to be conducted. Table 6.9 show the effects of combining two variables that were examined in the 1-way sensitivity analyses reported above. Variables with a greater potential for variance, such as the specificity of the test (with improved imaging techniques) the degree of stage shift (detecting a greater proportion of lung cancers in the pre-invasive stage) were varied in combination with one another. Using the most favourable and unfavourable estimates (Table 6.10) for all the parameters in the model, the impact of these simultaneous changes were significant. Results show that using the least favourable estimates of all the input variables generates a significantly high ICER of \$94,171/QALY. Conversely, using the most favourable estimates for the same parameters significantly reduces the ICER from \$54,923/QALY (baseline analysis) to \$34,338/QALY.

As discussed in Chapter 2, malignancy associated changes (MAC) are also being studied as a potential biomarker in pre-invasive neoplastic lesions of the lung. To test the outcome measures against using MAC in sputum samples (as measured by cytometric analysis) the sensitivity of the test was changed to 0.95 while the specificity was decreased to 0.4 (unpublished results from PMI Inc., 2003). Statistically, this would increase the number of true positive cases but also increase the number of false positive cases detecting through sputum screening. This would lead to unnecessary diagnostic follow-up in a significant number of patients and the ICER would be \$66,571/QALY.









Figure 6.8 Sensitivity analysis on sensitivity of sputum cytometry test



Figure 6.9 Sensitivity analysis on prevalence of lung cancer

6.4 Limitations and Feasibility

There are a number of limitations in this model that should be addressed. Firstly, the timing of lung cancer diagnosis can results in lead time bias. Overestimation of survival time, due to the backward shift in the starting point for measuring survival was not taken into consideration. Marshall et al., (2001) used a 1-year decrease in survival benefit as a proxy for a 1-year lead time bias and found that the cost-utility of CT screening increased from\$19,533/QALY (US\$ 1999) to \$50,473/QALY. Two other important bias are likely to have an effect on outcomes in this economic model. Over-diagnosis bias, meaning those lung cancers detected through screening do not actually cause clinical disease and length time bias, in which tumours detected are very slow growing with long latency periods, have not been addressed in the model.

Costs incorporated in the decision analysis algorithm do not include indirect costs such as those attributed with diagnostic complications or opportunity costs such as travel time and lost productivity as a result of screening. As the age of screening candidates increases it is assumed that foregone opportunity costs would decrease as many patients would no longer be in the work force. The model also assumes that the capital equipment and resources for such a screening programme are already in place and so represents the 'steady state' when such a programme would be operating. This is considered a reasonable assumption for the model with respect to current clinical practice in diagnosing lung cancer using CT scans and fluorescence bronchoscopy, it does not however take into account the initial cost of setting up a laboratory with the proposed sputum cytometer to analyze clinical slides. Capital cost estimates related to the design, construction and set-up of a sputum cytometer have been estimated by PMI to be approximately \$65,000. Practical considerations and policy issues raised by implementation of lung cancer screening such as how individuals at high risk for lung cancer would be targeted are not addressed in the model.



Cost Sputum Cytometry Test, \$

Figure 6.10 Sensitivity analysis on cost of sputum cytometry test





Table 6.10 Multi-way Sensitivity Analyses of Lung Cancer Screening with SputumCytometry

Analysia	ICED (Sputum CT Sevening
Allalysis Variable Description	ICER (Sputum + CI Screening
variable Description	vs. No Screening)
	(2002 CDN\$/QALY)
Base-case Scenario Prevalence of lung cancer 0.019 Cost of sputum cytometry \$100 Sensitivity of screening test 0.45	\$54,923/QALY
Two Way Sensitivity Analyses	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
A. Sensitivity 0.7 Prevalence 0.3	\$54,116/QALY
B. Sensitivity 0.7 Cost of test \$150	\$67,408/QALY
C. Sensitivity 0.7 Stage Shift 70%	\$57,322/QALY
 D. Specificity 0.95 Sensitivity 0.40 (MAC as biomarker) 	\$66,571/QALY
Multi-way Sensitivity Analyses	1.00 E
Most Favourable Scenario (favourable estimates from Table 6.3)	\$34,388/QALY
Least Favourable Scenario (against screening estimates from Table 6.3)	\$94,171/QALY

It is assumed that the entire cohort is screened and that there is full compliance with screening protocols. This is rarely this case in true clinical practice and an annual non-adherence rate has been shown to affect the ICER in other lung cancer screening models (Mahadevia et al., 2003). Clearly, if < 100% of the cohort is screened and complies with follow-up diagnostic testing, the ICER will increase. Annual non-adherence rates reported in lung cancer screening literature range from 3% to 18% (Henschke et al., 2001, Sone et al., 2001, Swensen et al., 2002). Finally, lung cancer disease progression was not stratified according to sex which may affect the outcome since men and women have slightly different survival rates.

6.5 Discussion

Under the assumptions of the base-case scenario in this model it was determined that in a high risk cohort of patients between 45 and 74 years of age, annual 5 year screening for lung cancer using sputum cytometry followed by CT scan appears to be cost-effective at \$54,923/QALY (base-case results). Sensitivity analyses conducted on various influential parameters in the economic model generated cost-utility ratios ranging from \$34,338/QALY to \$100,845/QALY. Using the U.S. cut-off of \$50,000 US per life year gained (Goodwin, 1998) or \$65,340 CDN (based on exchange rate of 0.765061), results from the base-case scenario in this model are within the accepted level of cost-effectiveness. It is important to remember that this is a 5 year annual screen and lifetime screening of elderly patients were certainly increase the costs while gains in QALYs may be expected to plateau.

Comparing these results to other published cost-effectiveness studies (described in Chapter 4, Table 4.4) on screening for lung cancer, an ICER of \$54,923/QALY is within an acceptable range for such a programme. Unfortunately, it is difficult to make direct comparisons across studies since the degree of variation in the model design is quite high. No other economic evaluation focused on using sputum cytometry as a first step in screening a high risk cohort for lung cancer. Only one other study took into account quality of life and under most favourable estimates had an ICER of \$42,500/QALY (US\$) for CT screening (Mahadevia et. al., 2003). However, the study modeled annual screening for 20 years with a follow-up of 40 years which would add significantly to the baseline cost of any lung cancer screening programme. This time frame for screening appears excessive and somewhat unrealistic and the authors show that both costs and QALYs gained reach a steady state after approximately 25 years. The fact that the QALYs gained in this study are less than those reported by Mahadevia et al. can be partly attributed to the age of the initial screened cohort. It can be argued that a screening programme beginning at age 60 would not capture as many life years as one where screening began at age 50.

Based on recommendations from cervical screening programmes (BCCA, 2003), which use similar cytological screening techniques, it seems highly unlikely that annual screening for lung cancer using sputum analysis would be advocated. Mahadevia et al. (2003) reported a baseline cost-utility of \$116,300/QALY, far above the \$50,000/QALY cut-off and suggest that annual CT screening is not cost-effective. Rather, a screening programme that screens a high risk cohort every 2 to 3 years seems more plausible and the model constructed in this chapter is currently being reanalyzed in order to assess the cost-utility of bi-annual screening intervals. All other detailed economic evaluations calculated cost per life year gained (Table 4.4) and costeffectiveness values are therefore expected to be underestimates since fewer life years would be gained had quality of life been considered. In addition, two studies discounted only costs and not life years and so although Chirikos et. al. (2002) calculated the cost-effectiveness of annual 5year CT screening to be \$35,400 per life year gained this again should be considered an underestimate.

Quality of life was not considered in the Marshall studied and assuming a lung cancer prevalence of 2.7%, with the incorporation of a one year 1 year lead time bias, the cost per life

year was reported to be \$62,828 per life year. The high risk cohort was between the ages of 60-74 yrs old.

Lung cancer is estimated to account for approximately 20% of all the cancer care costs in the United States (Desch, 1996). This represents 2% of all health care costs. In absolute dollars, lung cancer costs the American health care system \$8 billion annually, and the Canadian health care system \$328 million annually (Evans, 1995). Extrapolating results from other costeffectiveness studies the total cost for annual helical CT screening programme is very high. There are an estimated 50 million men and women in the United States classified as current or former smokers between the ages of 45 and 75 years old. If 50% of this group received periodic annual screening, the programme costs would be approximately \$115 billion dollars (Mahadevia et al., 2003). Adding screening with sputum cytometry for a 5 year period would increase this amount by another \$5.8 billion.

Until the clinical effectiveness of lung cancer screening has been widely proven there is little likelihood that a population based screening programme will be implemented. The most widely accepted end point in randomized cancer screening trials in disease-specific mortality (Black, 2002). If mortality is the proper measure of effectiveness, sputum cytometry for lung cancer will have to be clinically proven to contribute to a reduction in disease related death. On the other hand, if stage distribution and long-term survival are accurate measures of effectiveness, costing analyses such as this one suggest that screening for lung cancer is a worthy pursuit.

In summary, this economic model allows for a preliminary analysis of using sputum cytometry to screen for lung cancer. The CT screening arm is a weakly dominated strategy and should not be implemented as a screening program when sputum + CT screening is available in the health care setting. Estimates of the cost per QALY for sputum screening show it to be slightly more cost-effective than no screening at all in a high risk cohort of current and former

smokers. The results of the current clinical trial (PMI, Vancouver, B.C.) using sputum cytometry are highly anticipated and will provide more accurate parameters for use in such modeling. It can be concluded that using sputum cytometry in combination with CT scans in patients at high risk for lung cancer holds promise as a cost-effective lung cancer screening strategy. Research in this area will continue as screening algorithms and techniques improve resulting in a higher proportion of early stage lung cancer detection.

APPENDIX A Calculation of Pack Years in Smokers

Assuming 1 pack of cigarettes has 20 cigarettes in it.

Pack years equal the number of years you smoked times the number of packs per day.

For example:

Patient A:Smoked 2 packs a day for 20 yearsTherefore Patient A has a 40 (2x20) pack year history.

Patient B: Smoked 3 packs a day for 10 years = 3x10 = 30and Smoked 2.5 packs a day for 20 years = 2.5x20 = 50Therefore Patient B has an 80 (30+50) pack year history.
References

- 1. American Cancer Society: Cancer Facts and Figures: 1995. Atlanta, American Cancer Society, 1995.
- 2. Bach PB, Kelley MJ, Tate RC, McCrory DC. Screening for lung cancer: a review of the current literature. Chest 2003; 123(1 Suppl):72S-82S.
- 3. Bach PB, Niewoehner DE, Black WC. Screening for lung cancer: the guidelines. Chest 2003; 123(1 Suppl):83S-88S.
- 4. Baba Y, Takahashi M, Tominguichi S, Kiyota S. Cost-effectiveness decision analysis of mass screening for lung cancer. Acad Radiol. 1998; 5(suppl 2):S344-346.
- Berthelot J-M, Will BP, Houle C, Earle C, Evans WK. An economic evaluation of screening for treatment of pre-clinical lung cancer. Oral presentation, 14th Annual Meeting of the International Society of Technology Assessment in Health Care, Ottawa, 1998 (abstr 101).
- 6. Black WC, Haggstrom DA, Welch HG. All-cause mortality in randomized trials of cancer screening. J Natl Cancer Inst 2002; 94(3):167-173.
- 7. Boyer M. The economics of lung cancer. Lung Cancer 1996; 14:13-17.
- 8. Burns DM. Primary prevention, smoking, and smoking cessation: implications for future trends in lung cancer prevention. Cancer 2000; 89(11 Suppl):2506-9.
- 9. Caro JJ, Klittich WS, Strauss G. Could chest x-ray screening for lung cancer be costeffective? Cancer 2000; 89:2502-2505.
- 10. Chamberlain J, Moss S. (Eds.) Evaluation of cancer screening. Springer-Verlag London Limited, London, 1996.
- 11. Chirikos TN, Hazelton T, Tockman M, Clark R. Screening for lung cancer with CT: a preliminary cost-effectiveness analysis. Chest 2002; 121(5):1507-1514.
- 12. Copley-Merriman C, Martin C, Johnson N. Economic value of gemcitabine in non-small cell lung cancer. Semin Oncol 1996; 23(suppl 10):90-98.
- 13. Drummond MF, O'Brien BJ, Stoddart GL, Torrance GW. Methods for the economic evaluation of health care programmes. 2nd ed. Oxford University Press, New York, 1997.
- 14. Drummond MF, Bloom BS, Carrin G. Issues in the cross-national assessment of health technology. Int J Tech Assess Health Care 1992; 8:671-682.
- 15. Drummond MF. Principles of economic appraisal in health care. Oxford University Press, New York, 1980.
- 16. Duffy SW, Hill C, Esteve, J. (Eds.) Quantitative methods for the evaluation of cancer screening. Edward Arnold Publishers Ltd., New York, 2001.

- Earle CC, Chapman RH, Baker CS, Bell CM, Stone PW, Sandberg EA, Neumann PJ. Systematic overview of cost-utility assessments in oncology. J Clin Oncol. 2000; 18:3302-3317.
- 18. Evans WK, Will BP, Berthelot JM, Wolfson MC. The economics of lung cancer management in Canada. Lung Cancer 1996; 14:19-29.
- 19. Elixhauser A. Costs of breast cancer and the cost-effectiveness of breast cancer screening. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 1991; 7(4):604-15.
- 20. Elixhauser A. ed. Health care cost-benefit and cost-effectiveness analysis: an update. Med. Care 1998; 3:361 (suppl): MJS1-1479.
- 21. Gilmore J. Report on Smoking Prevalence in Canada, 1985 to 1999. Statistics Canada, Catalogue 82F0077XIE, 2000.
- 22. Gold MR, Russell LB, Siegel JE, Weinstein MC. (Eds.) Oxford University Press, New York, 1996.
- Goldberg-Kahn B, Healy JC, Bishop JW. The cost of diagnosis a comparison of four different strategies in the workup of solitary radiographic lung lesions. Chest 1997; 111:870-76.
- 24. Goodwin PJ, Shepherd FA. Economic issues in lung cancer: a review. J Clin Oncol 1998; 16(12):3900-3912.
- 25. Grann VG, Neugut AI. Lung cancer screening at any price? JAMA 2003; 289(3):357-358.
- 26. Greenlee RT, Murrary T, Bolden S, Wingo PA. Cancer statistics. 2000. *Ca Cancer J Clin* 2000; 50(1):7-33.
- 27. Gyrd-Hansen D. The relative economics of screening for colorectal cancer, breast cancer and cervical cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 1999; 32(2):133-44.
- 28. Health Canada Tobacco Control Program: Canadian Tobacco Use Monitoring Survey, February – December 2001. Ottawa, Canada, 2001.
- 29. Hennekens CH, Buring JE. Epidemiology in Medicine. Little, Brown and Company, Toronto, 1987.
- 30. Henschke CI, McCauley DI, Yankelevitz DF. Early Lung Cancer Action Project: overall design and findings from baseline screening. Lancet 1999; 354:99-105.
- 31. Henschke CI, Yankelevitz DF. CT screening for lung cancer. Radiol Clin North Am. 2000; 38:487-495.
- 32. Henschke CI, Naidich DP, Yankelevitz DF. Early Lung Cancer Project: initial findings on repeat screenings. Cancer 2001; 92:153-159.

- 33. Houle C, Will BP, Berthelot JM, Evans WK. Use of POHEM to estimate direct medical costs of current practice and new treatments associated with lung cancer in Canada. No.99, Health Analysis and Modeling Group, Statistics Canada, Ottawa, 1997.
- 34. Iinuma T, Tateno Y. Cost-effectiveness analysis of the mass screening for lung cancer. Nippon Igaku Hoshasen Gakkai Zasshi 1988; 48(11):1342-8.
- Ikeda N, MacAulay C, Lam S, LeRiche J, Payne P, Garner D, Konaka C, Kato H, Palcic B. Malignancy associated changes in bronchial epithelial cells and clinical application as a biomarker. Lung Cancer 1998; 19:161-66.
- 36. Jefferson T, Demicheli V, Mugford M. Elementary economic evaluation in health care 2nd ed. BMJ Publishing Group, London, 2000.
- 37. Kennedy TC, Miller Y, Prindiville S. Screening for lung cancer revisited and the role of sputum cytology and fluorescence bronchoscopy in a high-risk cohort. Chest 2000; 117(suppl 4):72S-79S.
- 38. Kramer BS, Gohagan JK, Prorok PC. (Eds.) Cancer screening- theory and practice. Marcel Dekker, Inc. New York, 1999.
- 39. Laaser U, Roccella EJ, Rosenfeld JB, Wenzel H. (Eds.) Cost and benefits in health care and prevention. Springer-Verlag Berlin Limited, Germany, 1990.
- 40. Lam S, Lam B, Petty T. Early detection for lung cancer. New tools for casefinding. Can Fam Physician 2001;47:537-544.
- 41. Last JM (ed.) A Dictionary of Epidemiology, Fourth Edition, Oxford University Press, 2000.
- 42. Laupacis A, Feeny D, Detsky AS, Tugwell PX. How attractive does a new technology have to be to warrant utilization? Tentative guidelines for using clinical and economic evaluations. *Can Med Assoc J* 1992;146(4):473-481.
- 43. Maccabee H. Chest-films can be cost-effective for lung cancer screening in older smokers. Presented at 16th International Cancer Conference, New Delhi, 1994.
- 44. Mahadevia PJ, Fleisher LA, Frick KD, Eng J, Goodman SN, Powe NR. Lung cancer screening with helical computed tomography in older adult smokers: a decision and cost-effectiveness analysis. JAMA 2003; 289(3):313-322.
- 45. Marshall D, Simpson KN, Earle CC, Chu CW. Economic decision analysis model of screening for lung cancer. Eur J Cancer 2001; 37:1759-1767.
- 46. Marshall D, Simpson KN, Earle CC, Chu CW. Potential cost-effectiveness of one-time screening for lung cancer (LC) in a high risk cohort. Lung Cancer 2001; 32:227-236.
- 47. Martini N, Rusch VW, Bains MS, Kris MG, Dawney RJ, Flehinger BJ, Ginsberg RJ. Factors influencing ten-year survival in resected stages I to IIIa non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1999; 117(1):32-8.

- 48. Miettinen OS. Screening for lung cancer: Can it be cost-effective? Can Med Assoc J 2000;162(10):1431-1436.
- 49. Morrison A. Screening in Chronic Disease. New York, Oxford University Press, 1992.
- 50. Mountain CF. The international system for staging of lung cancer. Semin Surg Oncol 2000; 18(2):106-15.
- 51. Mulshine JL. Screening for lung cancer: in pursuit of metastatic disease. Nat Rev Cancer 2003; 3:65-73.
- 52. National Cancer Institute of Cancer: Canadian Cancer Statistics 2002. Toronto, Canada, 2002.
- 53. Nakhosteen JA. Cost-effectiveness of a proposed feasibility study on the detection of early lung carcinoma on Germany. Cancer (Suppl) 2000; 89(11):2494-2496.
- 54. O'Brien B, Viramonte J. Willingness-to-pay: A valid and reliable measure of health state preference? Medical Decision making. 1994; 14: 289-97.
- 55. Okamoto N. Cost-effectiveness of lung cancer screening in Japan. Cancer 2000; 89:2489-93.
- 56. Palcic B, Garner DM, Beveridge J, Sun XR, Doudkine A, MacAulay C, Lam S, Payne PW. Increase in sensitivity of sputum cytology using high-resolution image cytometry: field study results. Cytometry (Clinical Cytometry) 2002; 50:168-176.
- 57. Reintgen DS, Clark RA. (Eds.) Cancer screening. Mosby-Year Book Inc., Missouri, 1996.
- 58. Reis LG, Eisner MP, Kosary CL et al. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1973-1997. Bethesda, MD, National Cancer Institute, 2000.
- 59. Russell et al. 1998.
- 60. Scholefield H. Screening for colorectal cancer. Br Med Bull. 2002; 64:75-80.
- Sloan FA. (Ed.) Valuing health care costs, benefits, and effectiveness of pharmaceuticals and other medical technologies. Cambridge University Press, New York, 1996.
- 62. Smith RA. Principles of successful screening. Surg Oncol Clin North Am 1999;8:587-609.
- Sobue T, Moriyama N, Kaneko M. Screening for lung cancer with low-dose helical computed tomography: anti-lung cancer association project. J Clin Oncol. 2002; 20:911-920.
- 64. Sone S, Takashima S, Li F. Mass screening for lung cancer with mobile spiral computed tomography scanner. Lancet 1998; 351:1242-1245.

- 65. Sone S, Li F, Yang ZG, Honda T, Maruyama Y, Takashima S, Hasegawa M, Kawakami S, Kubo K, Haniuda M, Yamanda T. Results of three-year mass screening programme for lung cancer using mobile low-dose spiral computed tomography scanner. Br J Cancer 2001; 84(1):25-32.
- 66. Sonnenberg A, Delco F. Cost-effectiveness of a single colonoscopy in screening for colorectal cancer. Arch Intern Med. 2002; 162(2):163-8.
- 67. Strauss GM. Screening for lung cancer an evidence-based synthesis. Surgical Oncology Clinics of North America 1999; 8(4):747-774.
- 68. Sun XR, Zheng Y, MacAulay C, Lam S, Doudkine A, Palcic B. In vitro model for studying malignancy associated changes. Anal Cell Path 2002; 14:18-26.
- 69. Swensen SJ, Jett JR, Sloan JA. Screening for lung cancer with low-dose spiral computed tomography. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2002; 165:508-513.
- 70. Than MJ, Lally CA, Flannery JT, Calle EE, Flanders WD, Heath CW. Cigarette smoking and changes in the histopathology of lung cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1997; 89:1580-1586.
- 71. Tengs TO, Adams ME, Pliskin JS. Five-hundred life-saving interventions and their costeffectiveness. Risk Anal 1995; 15:369-390.
- 72. Trippoli S, Vaiani M, Lucioni C, Messori A. Quality of life and utility in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Pharmacoeconomics 2001; 19:855-863.
- 73. Vancouver Coastal Health Authority. Vancouver Community Profile October 2002.
- 74. Will BP, Berthelot J-M, Nobrega KM, Flanagan W, Evans WK. Canada's Population Health Model (POHEM): a tool for performing economic evaluations of cancer control interventions. Eur J Cancer 2001; 37:1797-1804.
- 75. Wingo PA, Ries LA, Parker SL, Heath CW Jr. Long-term cancer patient survival in the United States. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1998; 7(4):271-82.
- Wolfson MC. POHEM A framework for understanding and modeling the health of human populations. Analytical Studies Branch Research Paper Series #44, Statistics Canada, 1992.
- 77. Whynes DK, Walker AR, Hardcastle JD. Cost-effective screening strategies for colorectal cancer. J Public Health Med. 1992; 14(1):43-9.